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Statement of Compliance

Government of Western Australia
Health and Disability Services Complaints Office

HON DR KIM HAMES MLA
MINISTER FOR HEALTH

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for 
your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Health and 
Disability Services Complaints Office (HaDSCO) for the financial year ended
30 June 2015.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the following provisions:

Auditor General Act 2006
Carers Recognition Act 2004
Disability Services Act 1993
Electoral Act 1907
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Financial Management Act 2006
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Health and Disability Services (Complaints) Act 1995
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Mental Health Act 2014
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Public Sector Management Act 1994
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
State Records Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 1991
Government and Ministerial Annual Reporting Policies

Linley Anne Donaldson
DIRECTOR

9 September 2015
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Contact details 

Useful numbers

Complaints and enquiries:  (08) 6551 7600

Country free call:  1800 813 583

TTY (for people with voice  
or hearing impairment):  (08) 6551 7640

Reception:  (08) 6551 7620

Fax: (08) 6551 7630

Location
 

Albert Facey House, 469 Wellington Street, Perth WA 6000

Postal Address
 

PO Box B61, Perth, WA 6838

Email 
mail@hadsco.wa.gov.au

Website 
www.hadsco.wa.gov.au

Online engagement site 
www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au

Welcome to the Health and Disability Services Complaints Office (HaDSCO) 2014-15 Annual Report. The 
report provides an overview of the work led by the Office and how we have contributed to the improvement 
of health, disability and mental health services in Western Australia.

The report is structured around five key performance areas encompassing our role in system 
improvement, empowerment and education, quality complaints management, building staff capacity and 
effective resource management.

About this report 
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This section identifies internal 
and external factors that could 
impact on the services that we 
deliver to the community.

2.Office 
overview
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From the HaDSCO Director

Welcome to the 2014-15 Annual Report of the 
Health and Disability Services Complaints Office 
(HaDSCO). We are an independent statutory body 
responsible for a broad range of functions, all of 
which aim to drive improvements across health, 
disability and mental health sectors. 

During the year we led a number of initiatives, 
which focused on delivering system improvement 
in target areas. We have the legislative obligation 
to collect complaint data from health and disability 
providers on a yearly basis. This allows my Office 
to identify the trends and issues presenting from 
the data and work with providers to support 
improvement. This work is done in collaboration 
with service providers to better understand the 
underlying context of complaints. 

This has been the fifth year of collecting 
aggregated complaint data from 26 health 
providers across the state. Using this information 
we delivered individual complaint trend reports 
to key health providers, and gave them access 
to interactive data sets through our online 
engagement site Collaborate and Learn.

2. Office overview

Our vision
Empowering users and 

providers to collaboratively 
improve health and 
disability services

Historically we have received a low number of 
complaints from people with disability or their 
carer. Under s48a of Disability Services Act 
1993, due to a recent amendment, we have the 
legislative mandate to collect complaint data from 
disability service providers. During the year we 
established a pilot group of 20 disability service 
providers to develop a process that would enable 
the submission of complaint data to HaDSCO. 

To complement this project, we completed 
an extensive engagement program, inviting 
people with disability and carers to participate 
in a focus group. The purpose of this was to 
understand the barriers to making complaints 
from a consumer or carer perspective. The 
response from the community to the focus group 
series was unprecedented, resulting in my Office 
delivering 13 focus groups in both metropolitan 
and regional Western Australia (WA). A report will 
be released in partnership with National Disability 
Services in late 2015, providing a summary of 
the communities concerns, provider perspectives 
and our recommendations to improve complaint 
handling processes.

https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au
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From the HaDSCO Director (Continued)

We strive to deliver our services efficiently and effectively to our various stakeholders. 
With the introduction of internal efficiency measures, 100 percent of complaints were 
assessed within 28 days. With a focus on delivering more in our second service 
– education and training in the prevention of complaints – we reduced the cost of 
awareness raising activities by 44 percent. 

Through the management of complaints we worked with services to improve the way 
services are provided. This process resulted in 86 recommendations made by my Office. 

Since 2010 when the National Health Practitioner Regulation Act 2010 was introduced, 
we have been required to work with Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency 
(AHPRA) when we receive complaints about a named registered health practitioner. 
During the year, this Office and AHPRA WA established a National Review to assess how 
changes can be implemented to make our joint processes more transparent and timely for 
consumers and providers.  

Following on from the mental health consumer perspective forum delivered by my 
Office in 2013, work in mental health continues to gather momentum. In a leadership 
capacity we formed a committee with central government agencies, each with legislative 
responsibility in managing mental health complaints. The committee membership includes 
the Office of the Chief Psychiatrist, Council of Official Visitors, Mental Health Commission 
and the Office of Mental Health, with a focus on clarifying roles and responsibilities in 
managing mental health complaints. This led to the development of a Mental Health 
Complaints Partnership Agreement and Addendum to be launched on 12 August 2015. 
I would like to commend the hard work and dedication of this committee over the past 12 
months.

Our Consumer and Carer Reference Group celebrated their one year anniversary, 
following the group’s establishment in March 2014. During the year we also established a 
Health Provider Consultative Group formed by key representatives from the health sector. 
These groups are essential as they provide an opportunity to work with key stakeholders 
to understand how we might improve in our delivery of services and share opportunities 
for improvement.

Reaching our regional, aboriginal and Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) 
communities has its own set of challenges. This year we trialled a new strategy to 
engage with regional communities. This included the establishment of partnerships 
with NGO’s to access different groups in the community. We partnered with Individual 
Disability Advocacy Service to reach vulnerable communities throughout the region. 
We also launched a key awareness raising video featuring members of the Noongar 
community titled “Speak up - do something about it” in partnership with Yorgum Aboriginal 
Corporation.

We have an agreement with the Commonwealth to deliver services to the Indian Ocean 
Territories (IOT). This year we visited Christmas Island to develop an awareness raising 
video involving the community. The video, to be released in 2015, showcases the various 
cultures and languages on the Island, providing information about our services. We hope 
that this video will become a lasting and useful resource for the IOT communities and to 
the broader CALD communities in WA. 

https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Aboriginal%20Engagement%20Project.aspx
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This is my tenth and final annual report as I will be retiring as Director at the end of 2015. It 
has been a privilege to be in this role and I reflect on the many changes during this time. As 
a result of legislative amendments in 2010, the name of the Office changed from Office of 
Health Review to HaDSCO. This name more aptly reflects our role in both health the disability 
sectors. The legislative amendments also provided greater capacity for the complaints team 
to achieve early resolution of matters and to utilise their skills where appropriate to support 
parties to effectively resolve issues. 

The implementation of regulations with prescribed health providers is now being extended 
to prescribe disability providers. This affords the opportunity for industry discussions 
related to the trends and issues arising from complaints, and for the sharing of lessons and 
improvement achieved.

In the last six years we have improved the productivity of the Office expanding our functions 
through leadership in key areas, including a focus on system improvement and engaging with 
community and service providers to better understand the issues underlying complaints. Our 
stakeholder and community engagement programs ranging from face-to-face to social media 
have been invaluable. As a small Office the opportunity to establish an interactive social 
media platform has provided another avenue to reach communities. 

This recognition of our broader role is a testament to the commitment of my staff to embrace 
change, demonstrating leadership in developing a more open agenda about the importance of 
effectively addressing complaints, and using the information to benefit patient centred  
safe practice. 

The work of the Office is possible due to the enthusiasm and commitment of staff that bring 
these changes to fruition with great professionalism and integrity. I have gained so much 
professionally and personally in this role and I express my sincere thanks to my staff and our 
broad group of stakeholders for all that you have shared to make a difference.

From the HaDSCO Director (Continued)
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Our performance at a glance

2. Office overview2. Office overview

Released  
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“Speak up – Do something about it”  
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Mental Health Complaints
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Partners Effectively managing
mental health complaints

And
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Between
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Mental Health Partnership Agreement
86

Recommendations  
made to service providers  
to improve the delivery 

of services within WA

100% 
of cases assessed in

28 
days

Engaged  
with regional WA
Visited: Bunbury, Busselton, 
Kalgoorlie, Broome, Geraldton, 
Katanning, Albany, Christmas Island 
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Katanning
yy

524 
Outreach activities  
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and service providers

13 
Focus groups  

for people with disability to 
understand the barriers in 
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Disability service 
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complaint data to 

HaDSCO
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a Resource and Case study library on 

our online engagement site  
Collaborate and Learn 

176 
Awareness  

raising activities with 
the community and 

service providers

MIDWEST
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KIMBERLEY

WHEATBELT

GREAT SOUTHERNSOUTH WEST Since December 2014 
316,679 views on 
Collaborate and Learn

Our performance at a glance (Continued)

https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Aboriginal%20Engagement%20Project.aspx
http://hea003.sharepoint.yourasp.com/cal/feedback/Lists/Consumer%2520feedback%2520survey/NewForm.aspx%3FSource%3Dhttps%253a//www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/feedback/SitePages/Consumer%252520feedback%252520survey.aspx
https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Health%20complaint%20trends%20report%202010-14.aspx
https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Aboriginal%20Engagement%20Project.aspx
https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/MHPA/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/
https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/Lists/Case%20study/AllItems.aspx
https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/Lists/Resources/AllItems.aspx
https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au
https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/We%20value%20your%20feedback.aspx
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The Health and Disability Services Complaints Office (HaDSCO) is an independent statutory body 
responsible for contributing to the improvement of health, disability and mental health services in Western 
Australia (WA) and the Indian Ocean Territories. HaDSCO has a statutory reporting function to the Hon. Dr 
Kim Hames, Deputy Premier; Minister for Health; Tourism.

Through our roles and functions with the health, disability and mental health sectors we:

 Provide a free, independent and impartial service that assists consumers and  
 providers to resolve complaints.

 Use information about complaints to identify system issues and trends  
 across these sectors.

 Work collaboratively with consumers and providers to improve service delivery 
 and complaints management.

Who we are

We operate within two distinct, but inter-linked key service areas:

Our services

Service one:  Assessment, conciliation, negotiated settlement and 
investigation of complaints.

We assist consumers and providers to resolve complaints; undertake investigations; and identify 
opportunities for system improvement.

Service two:  Education and training in the prevention and resolution  
of complaints.

We work collaboratively with our stakeholders to share information about the causes of complaints; 
provide education and training in effective complaint resolution; and implement initiatives that 
contribute towards system improvement.
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Our vision

Everything we do centers around the vision of:

Empowering users and providers to collaboratively  
improve health and disability services

To work towards achieving our vision, which essentially outlines where we are as an organisation and where 
we want to be, all the decisions and actions that form our daily functions are guided by six core values:

1  Integrity: acting impartially and with independence.

2  Accessibility: ensuring services are accessible to all.

3  Responsiveness: responding to the needs of stakeholders.

4  Confidentiality: maintaining confidentiality.

5  Empowerment: building capacity in complaints prevention and resolution.

6  Improvement: influencing the quality and effectiveness of services.

Our values



Our 2012-15 strategic plan 

Within our two service areas we have identified priority areas of work that 
help us to achieve our central vision. These priorities are outlined in our 
2012-15 Strategic Plan and centre on the following five themes:

System improvement
HaDSCO is committed to service improvement by analysing 
information to identify systemic issues

Empowerment and education
HaDSCO is committed to empowering consumers and 
providers to effectively resolve complaints and working 
collaboratively with stakeholders to develop accessible 
resources

Quality complaints management
HaDSCO is committed to providing a quality complaints 
management service that meets best practice standards and 
is responsive to the environment

Building staff capacity
HaDSCO is committed to strengthening service delivery by 
building staff skills and developing a performance oriented 
culture with an ongoing commitment to Office values

Effective resource management
HaDSCO is committed to efficient and accountable resource 
management, cost effective service delivery and effective 
resource planning for key priorities.

16 2. Office overview

These themes are also reflected in the structure of this report.
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System
improvement

HaDSCO is committed to service 
improvement by analysing data 

to identify systemic issues. 

Empowerment
and education

HaDSCO is committed to empowering
consumers and providers to 

effectively resolve complaints and 
working collaboratively with 

stakeholders to develop 
accessible resources.

Effective resource
management

HaDSCO is committed to efficient and 
accountable resource management, 
cost effective service delivery and 

effective resource planning for 
key priorities. 

Building 
staff capacity

HaDSCO is committed to strengthening
service delivery by building staff skills 

and developing a performance 
oriented culture with an ongoing 

commitment to the
Office’s values. 

Quality complaints
management

HaDSCO is committed to providing a 
quality complaints management 
service that meets best practice 

standards and is responsive 
to the environment.

Our vision
Empowering users and 

providers to collaboratively 
improve health and 
disability services.

2012-15 Strategic Map

Service improvements
In 2014-15 through the management 
of complaints HaDSCO made 86 
recommendations to improve health, 
disability and mental health services 
across WA.86
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Our Performance Management Framework provides a visual 
representation of how we cooperate as an Office to achieve our outcomes 
in the context of the wider government goals.

Performance Management Framework 

We do this to work towards achieving the overarching Government goal – Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians. 

2. Office overview

Government Goal

Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 

Western Australians

Agency desired outcome

Improved delivery of health and 
disability services

2012 - 2015 Strategic Plan

System improvement

Empowerment and education

Quality complaints management

Building staff capacity

Effective resource management

HaDSCO - Service one

Assessment, conciliation, negotiated 
settlement and investigation of complaints

HaDSCO - Service two

Education and training in the prevention and 
resolution of complaints



Working with legislation 

The pieces of legislation that we administer are:

Health and Disability Services  
(Complaints) Act 1995 
This Act defines the role of our Office and how we 
manage health complaints. 

Part 6 of the Disability Services Act 1993 
This part of the Act defines how we manage disability 
complaints. This Act was updated in June 2013 and 
as a result we are now able to collect complaints 
information from disability service providers.

Part 19 of the Mental Health Act 2014 
We have always managed complaints about mental 
health services; however Part 19 of the Mental Health 
Act 2014 will expand our jurisdiction and strengthen our 
capacity to manage these types of complaints.

Our functions
Under these two acts, our main functions are to:

 Deal with complaints by conciliation, negotiated 
settlement or investigation.

 Review and identify the causes of complaints.

 Provide advice and make recommendations for 
service improvement.

 Educate users and providers about complaint 
handling procedures.

 Inquire into broader issues of health and disability 
care arising from complaints received.

 Work in collaboration with users and providers to 
improve health and disability services.

 Publish the work of the Office.

 Perform any other function conferred on the 
Director by the Act or another written law.

Under these Acts we are able to do all things that are 
necessary, or convenient to be done, in order to perform 
the above functions, which change from case to case.

Other relevant legislation
Carers Recognition Act 2004 
This Act aims to change the culture of service providers 
so the impact on carers is considered when services 
are assessed, planned, delivered and reviewed. A key 
part of the Act requires service providers to comply with 
the WA Carers Charter. We are able to take complaints 
about health, disability or mental health providers that 
do not comply with this Charter.

Health Practitioner Regulation National Law 
WA) Act 2010 
We are required by law to consult the Health 
Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) about 
complaints relating to the health, conduct or 
professional performance of individual health 
practitioners. We consult with each other to determine 
which agency is best placed to manage the complaint. 

Sometimes, different aspects of a complaint are 
managed by both agencies. For example, AHPRA 
may investigate allegations relating to the health, 
performance or conduct of an individual practitioner 
while HaDSCO manages the broader system issues 
that may have contributed to the cause of the complaint. 
In addition, system issues identified by the boards 
during their investigations are referred to HaDSCO for 
further management.

A full list of the health professionals that are regulated 
by AHPRA can be found in ‘Appendix’ page 121.

We are an independent statutory authority. This means that we are 
required to administer legislation on behalf of the WA State Government. 
The legislation that we administer outlines our responsibilities as an Office 
and the process that we must follow to manage complaints. Our legislative 
responsibilities directly align to our desired outcome of improved health, 
disability and mental health service delivery.

2. Office overview 19



Legislative change and review
We are aware that the following pieces of legislation 
are currently being reviewed, or will be the subject of 
review:

 Health and Disability Services (Complaints) 
Act 1995

 Part 6 of the Disability Services Act 1993

 Health Practitioner Regulation National Law (WA) 
Act 2010

There are also new codes and pieces of legislation that, 
when enacted, will impact on the role of our Office:

 Declared Place (Mentally Impaired Accused) 
Bill 2013 

 Unregistered Health Practitioners Code of Conduct

The section of this report titled ‘Significant issues’ on 
page 73 explains this legislative review and change in 
more detail, including the potential impact that this may 
have on our Office.

Investigative powers
Under the Director’s formal powers of investigation, 
HaDSCO can issue a notice for information to be 
produced and can also require the attendance of a 
person to answer questions under oath or affirmation.

Health and Disability Services (Complaints) Act 1995 
provides the Director with extensive powers, when 
warranted, to:

 summon individuals or documents

 apply for a warrant to enter premises

 enter and inspect premises and take copies of any 
necessary documents.

The Director has the power to make recommendations 
following an investigation and follow up on the action 
taken by the health or disability service provider. 
The Director does not have the power to enforce the 
recommendations.

The Director can also report to Parliament on any 
matter arising from a complaint or on any of the 
functions of the Director. Part VI of the Disability 
Services Act 1993 contains similar provisions for the 
investigation of disability services complaints.

Other reporting functions:
Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs)

To support the delivery of our services and ensure 
information is transferred between key government 
departments, we work with a number of others agencies 
to deliver the best possible outcomes for the community. 

We have developed Memorandums of Understanding 
(MOUs) with key government agencies to facilitate 
collaborative and cooperative working in the resolution 
of complaints. These include:

 Australian Competition and Consumer Commission 
(ACCC) 

 Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency 
(AHPRA)

 Coroner’s Office

 Department of Commerce 

 Department of Corrective Services

 West Australian Police

Working with legislation (Continued) 
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Coroners 
Office

ACCC

AHPRA
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Police

Department 
of Corrective 

Services

Department 
of 

Commerce

HaDSCO



Complaints and System 
Improvement Unit
The Complaints and System Improvement (CSI) 
Unit is primarily focused on HaDSCO’s service one - 
assessment, conciliation, negotiated settlement and 
investigation of complaints. The key functions of this 
team are below:

 Provide a comprehensive complaint management 
service to stakeholders from the initial enquiry 
stage where information, support and guidance is 
provided, right through to the management and 
resolution of complaints. 

 Undertake work relating to the system 
improvement of health, disability and mental 
health services.

Strategic Services and Community 
Engagement Unit
The Strategic Services and Community Engagement 
(SSCE) Unit is primarily focused on HaDSCO’s 
service two: education and training in the prevention 
and resolution of complaints, as well as providing 
the core business services to the Office. The key 
functions of this team are below:

 Deliver a range of programs and strategies to 
educate, promote our services and collaborate 
with key stakeholders.

 Produce statistical analysis and research relating 
to complaints data. 

 Provide corporate governance, administration, 
human resources, records management and 
finance. 

Both units work collaboratively in the delivery  
of services.

Executive Team
The Executive Team provides leadership and 
oversees the strategic direction of the Office. The 
team includes representation from both units and 
consists of the Director, Assistant Director Complaints 
and System Improvement and Assistant Director 
Strategic Services and Community Engagement. 

System Improvement Working Group 
The System Improvement Working Group identifies 
and monitors system issues in health, disability and 
mental health sectors. One of the main functions 
of the group is to identify and implement initiatives 
designed to raise awareness about system issues, 
and prevent further complaints. 

Medical Panel 
A service contract to provide medical advice via a 
specialist medical panel is in place with Edith Cowan 
University. The Medical Panel provide medical opinion 
on cases that are clinical in nature and assists with 
the development of education initiatives, such as case 
studies and presentations to health providers.

Strategic Services support
Support is also provided by the Health Corporate 
Network of the Department of Health (DoH), in the 
areas of human resources, procurement, finance, 
reporting and business systems services. An 
agreement with DoH also provides for information 
and communications technology support.

At the core of our service is our people. We each have a different role to play 
in service delivery but we all work together to achieve our common vision.

Our people 

2. Office overview 21

The Office can be summarised in two parts, reflecting the 
two key service areas that we deliver:

The Office is also guided by the following committees 
that focus on leadership of the Office and driving 
improvements across the sectors:
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Organisational chart
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Office
performance 3.

This section provides a 
dynamic overview of the 
HaDSCO’s Office performance 
and key achievements.



Contributing to the improvement of health, disability and 
mental health services underpins everything we do as an 

Office. We recognise that, through first reporting, and then 
reflection, complaints provide a valuable opportunity to improve. They allow 
an organisation to look back on an event or situation and assess how things 
could have been improved. From this we then have a starting block from 
which we can minimise future risk and work to ensure the same issues do 
not occur again.  

The overview of key initiatives are below:
During 2014-15 we led a number of programs focused on delivering system improvements. Through the collaboration 
and sharing of information, we worked with key stakeholder groups to deliver positive changes across sectors. 

In a snapshot, the initiatives we focused on during 2014-15 to support improvement included:

System improvement 

Overview 
In 2014-15 we received 2419 complaints. These complaints, lodged directly with 
HaDSCO, included allegations by the community about health, disability or mental 
health services.

Through the collection of complaints data we are able to identify broad trends and 
issues and work collaboratively with service providers to make recommendations 
to address areas of concern. This year we made 86 service improvements 
across the three sectors.

In addition to making recommendations directly to service providers, we 
play a central role in sharing complaints data with the wider community, 

and use this information to inform future outreach and engagement 
activities.

To view more information on the types of complaints  
received see page 40.

Key initiative
Recommendations for 
service improvement

3. Office performance24
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Overview of key initiatives (Continued)

Overview 
At the end of each financial year, a representation of public, private and not-for-profit health providers is 
required to submit complaint data to HaDSCO. This data provides an overview of the types of complaints 
that they have received over a 12 month period. We analyse this information and report on common 
trends. To access this data see page 54.

The health providers that send us their complaints information are prescribed under Section 75 of the 
Health and Disability Services (Complaints) Act 1995 and are specified in the Health and Disability 
Services (Complaints) Regulations 2010. Essentially this means that these providers must send us 
their complaints information each year in an agreed format. These health providers were selected to 
participate in the project because they represent a cross-section of health providers in WA. To see a 
list of these health providers please refer to ‘Appendix’ page 118.

We analyse the health complaints data obtained through this process and use this, along with 
other sources of information (e.g. our own complaints data), to identify potential opportunities 

for system improvement. From this we are then able to share information with health 
providers, producing a full analysis of all data submitted. In 2014-15 we shared this 

information through a variety of means including interactive charts, broad sector 
and tailored reports.

This provides a unique insight into the health sector overall and 
is a starting block from which we can work collaboratively 

to suggest improvements. 

Key initiative
Collecting and analysing 
complaint data from 
health providers
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Overview 
During 2014-15 we worked with a pilot group of 20 WA disability service 
providers to develop a procedure that would enable them to submit their 
complaints data to HaDSCO. We collect this data under Section 48A of the 
Disability Services Act 1993. The aim of the process was to:

 improve the consistency of complaint data collection in the disability sector;

 provide useful information about the issues that consumers experience 
when accessing disability services; and

 work collaboratively with disability service providers, sharing 
lessons learnt from complaints and ideas to improve service 

delivery.

To access this data see page 60.

Overview of key initiatives (Continued)

Did you know?

The disability complaints system was modelled on Victoria’s and New South Wales’ database to 
facilitate greater consistency in complaints data collection across Australia.

The disability service providers that send us their complaints information are prescribed under 
Section 48A of the Disability Services Act 1993. Each prescribed disability service provider must 
therefore submit their complaints data to HaDSCO on an annual basis. To see a list of these disability 
service providers please refer to ‘Appendix’ page 119’.

Having agreed upon a consistent format to collect complaints data, the pilot group of providers 
began recording complaints data in the new agreed format from 1 July 2014. Forming the inaugural 
year, the 2014-15 reporting period enabled HaDSCO to collect complaints information from disability 
service providers for the first time, providing an essential means to evaluate and report on broad 
complaint trends across the sector.

To streamline the process, Disability Services Commission and HaDSCO co-funded the development 
of a more user-friendly and comprehensive complaints collection system. This new system was 
developed and tested in 2014-15 and can be used by the participating disability providers from 1 
July 2015. From this we hope to make the recording of complaints data even more streamlined and 
consistent, allowing for comprehensive reporting across the sector. 

Key initiative
Collecting and 
analysing complaint 
data from disability 
providers

3. Office performance
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Overview 
We remain committed to developing a bank of useful resources for use both internally and 
externally throughout the community. This includes reports on complaint trends and case studies.

In a bid to make these accessible to everyone, we developed a dedicated resources page on 
our online engagement site – Collaborate and Learn – placing these resources at community 
members’ fingertips. By sharing these resources widely, we hope to empower community members 
– both people raising concerns and those receiving them – to feel empowered in resolving their 
complaints.

For the Department of Health and wider health services - including public, private and not-for-
profit hospitals – we created a series of interactive charts enabling users to easily compare 

complaints data. More information on this is available on page 36.

Also, we delivered a range of tailored training packages to specific groups, where 
a need for further training was identified. The training sessions provided a 

valuable opportunity to share useful complaints handling techniques and 
tips with targeted provider groups.

Overview of key initiatives (Continued)

Key initiative
Sharing what we have 
learned from complaints 

3. Office performance
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Overview of key initiatives (Continued)

Overview 
Through the establishment of the Mental Health Consultative 
Committee - consisting of a core group of state government 
agencies – we have been working to provide clarity around respective 
roles and responsibilities in managing mental health complaints.

This saw the committee work to establish the multi-agency 
Mental Health Partnership Agreement, outlining a commitment 
to simplifying complaints processes, clarifying roles and 

responsibilities and sharing information across agencies. 
More information on this project can be found at page 33.

Key initiative
Clarifying our role in 
managing mental health 
complaints

Overview 
In November 2014 we hosted the first Health Provider 

Consultative Committee meeting with key representatives 
from private and public health providers across WA.

The group committed to work collaboratively to address 
systemic issues identified from complaints. This included the 
sharing of resource materials and complaints data, as well 
as strategies to improve service delivery and consumer 

experiences. The group also outlined a commitment to 
provide guidance on where HaDSCO can add value 

by complimenting existing quality improvement 
strategies across the health sector.

Key initiative
Building networks to 
share improvements 

3. Office performance
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Overview of key initiatives (Continued)

Overview 
To provide the best possible service to the community, we must first have a 
good understanding of the services, supports and needs required by the people 
accessing our services.

During 2014-15 a number of key initiatives were progressed to better 
understand consumer perspectives of making a complaint. Included 

was a key project with the disability community and service providers 
to better understand why our Office receives a low incidence of 

disability related complaints. This work filtered directly into 
subsequent work programs to address the issues raised. 

For more information on the work undertaken as 
part of this see page 32.

Key initiative
Understanding 
community 
perspectives

3. Office performance
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Empowerment and education remains a key focus for our Office. Alongside 
the provision of a comprehensive complaints resolution service, we also 

work to provide all of our service users with the tools, resources and knowledge 
needed to collaboratively improve health, disability and mental health services.

Empowerment and education

In this way we empower community members to feel confident in resolving their complaints. Additionally, we perform 
an essential educational function by providing information about good principles for complaints handling, details as to 
our role in complaints management and the outcomes we can achieve.

We recognise that complaints provide an opportunity to improve and, through tackling the individual and systemic 
issues that give rise to complaints, we can help bring about positive change. We believe that through education and 
training we can help to prevent the same issues occurring again in the future, and ensure services are effective, safe 
and consistent for all West Australians. 

To achieve this, we undertake a range of ongoing and tailored engagement activities with a variety of stakeholders 
across Western Australia (WA). We promote our services, make them accessible to all and ensure that we are 
responsive to community needs. As a small Office with limited resources we aim to build meaningful partnerships to 
effectively deliver these programs. The following section details the work undertaken to achieve this during 2014-15.

Our Stakeholder Engagement Strategy (SES) 2012-15 outlines a commitment to deliver a series of 
individual engagement projects over a three year period.

The SES framework outlines initiatives that relate to each of the five levels of engagement 
described below: 

Inform 
We will keep stakeholders informed on our operations, updates, developments and future plans.

Consult 
We will keep stakeholders informed, listen to and acknowledge concerns, and provide feedback on how 
stakeholder input will contribute to an outcome.

Involve 
We will work with stakeholders to ensure that concerns are considered and, where appropriate, are reflected in 
relevant processes. 

Collaborate 
We will seek stakeholders’ input to formulate solutions, and incorporate their advice and recommendations to 
achieve positive outcomes.

Empower  
We will support stakeholders by providing advice, resources and tools to empower their decision making.

The SES framework developed during the 2014-15 financial year supports the delivery of our central strategic plan and 
ensures effective stakeholder engagement through projects, programs and services that are well planned and tailored.

It also assists us to highlight key stakeholder areas requiring extra focus and attention, allowing us to deliver targeted 
and meaningful activities.

Whilst our SES covers a broad range of stakeholders and activities, we have elected to highlight areas that were of 
special focus for us during the 2014-15 reporting period.

Stakeholder Engagement Strategy 2012-15

3. Office performance
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Understanding community perspectives

Understanding what our community members want and look to from our service – be that provider, 
consumer, carer, family member or advocate –is central to what we do. We value community input in 
everything we do as a means to assess whether our goals are aligned and services fit for purpose. 

Consumer and Carer Reference Group 
HaDSCO’s Consumer and Carer Reference 
Group (CCRG) this year celebrated its one year 
anniversary, following the group’s establishment 
in March 2014. Consisting of representatives 
spanning health, disability and mental health, the 
CCRG continued to provide input and feedback on 
various elements of our service delivery throughout 
the 2014-15 reporting period.

In particular, the group played an integral role 
in developing a consumer feedback form for all 
HaDSCO users, to enable us to better capture 
experiences and perceptions of our service, as a 
means to evaluate and improve. Additionally, the 
group provided extensive feedback, comments and 
suggestions as part of our publications and website 
review, to ensure the information we are providing 
to consumers is reflective of their needs and how 
this relates to our service delivery. 

Most importantly, through consultation with 
the CCRG we have been able to strengthen 
relationships with consumers, advocates, carers 
and family members, by providing ongoing 
opportunities for meaningful conversations around 
HaDSCO-led projects, as well as exploring 
opportunities for future involvement with external 
organisations. 

The CCRG meetings demonstrate 
HaDSCO’s commitment to genuine 
consumer, carer and family 
engagement. The CCRG is highly 
valued by HaDSCO and input we 
and members provide is not only 
considered but utilised by HaDSCO 
in improving and strengthening 
their consumer, carer engagement 
strategy

– Anonymous member of our CCRG.

It seems a great time to commend you on 
the work that has been done over this time 
frame to comprehensively plan, support and 
facilitate consumer and carer engagement 
with HaDSCO, and to do so in a manner that 
is ongoing/sustained, and that is flexible 
and responsive to people’s needs. This is a 
contrast to the often ‘ad hoc’ approach to 
and interest in engagement consumers tend 
to encounter. My observation is that there 
are stronger and more diverse partnerships 
in place as a result and it’s a significant 
achievement- thank you.

– CCRG member

Moving Forward

We will continue to grow and expand the 
group’s representation to ensure we have 
a diverse combination of consumer, carer 
and family members’ perspectives with 
interests in health, disability and mental 
health. We recognise the importance of 
involving community members in our 
future planning and service delivery to 
achieve the best possible outcomes.

3. Office performance
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Understanding community perspectives (Continued)

Disability Focus Group Series
HaDSCO has historically reported a low number of complaints from the disability community. In recognition of this, in 
2014-15 we launched a project to reach out to people with disability, their carers and families to better understand the 
possible rationale behind these statistics. 

To do this we held a series of focus groups with individuals who identified themselves as having accessed disability 
services, to better understand the barriers in making complaints.  

Before beginning the project, we consulted extensively with key disability sector stakeholders, to gain their support of 
the project and discuss opportunities for sharing the information gained through the public consultation. 

In total, we hosted 13 disability focus groups with a variety of consumers, advocates, family members and carers in 
metropolitan and regional areas, as part of a five month consultation project. 

The focus groups provided a valuable opportunity to talk through consumer experiences and share insight into how 
the complaints system is perceived in the disability sector. Additionally, the sessions enabled us to work through 
ideas and suggestions with attendees, by looking at what improvements they felt could be implemented in relation to 
the themes they had identified. 

Gaining this type of feedback gave us a valuable 
insight into the disability sector in WA and placed us in 
a strong position to share this information with disability 
service providers. To do this we partnered with the 
National Disability Service (NDS) to host a one-off 
event for disability service providers, to understand 
complaints from their perspectives. Given our impartial 
standing, it was important to include provider feedback, 
ensuring all sides were represented. The session, held 
in late May 2015, brought together disability service 
providers from the public, private and not-for-profit 
sectors and presented a range of self-selected issues 
for group discussion.

Moving Forward

Taking this wealth of information and 
using it to positive effect, we are working 
to provide a report detailing the current 
complaints management processes within 
the disability sector. Within this, there will 
be a number of recommendations to aid 
the management of disability complaints 
across WA, which we plan to deliver in 
partnership with NDS.

How to get involved

Help us to understand the barriers faced by 

people with disability when making a complaint

How to get involved

The Health and Disability Service Complaints Office (HaDSCO) is inviting individuals who access 

disability services, their families and carers, to participate in a one-off series of focus groups, 

planned for late November and January 2015.

If you are interested in participating please register your attendance by phoning HaDSCO 

on: (08) 6551 7623. Alternatively, you can email: yoursay@hadsco.wa.gov.au

If you would like further information regarding the focus groups please contact 

Katy Lawton, Strategic Communications and Engagement Officer, on the number 

above.

The focus groups will provide the opportunity to talk honestly and openly about experiences of making a 

complaint in the disability setting. We want to better understand the barriers people with disability face when 

making a complaint; to enable us to see which processes are working and the areas in need of added focus.

Facilitated by HaDSCO, the focus groups will include plenty of opportunities for you to find out more about our 

complaints processes and raise any questions or concerns in a relaxed, informal setting.

The sessions will run for approximately 1.5 hours, and there are a selection of dates and venues available to best 

suit individual needs. This includes the capability to run evening sessions if these are more feasible. Numbers for 

each session are limited and all attendees must be registered, so please ensure you confirm your attendance. 

Light refreshments will be provided on the day. 
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Mental Health Complaints Partnership 
Agreement
Following on from the mental health consumer 
perspective work initiated in 2013, mental health 
engagement continued to gather momentum this year, 
with an increased focus on looking at ‘where to from 
here’.

Having collected consumer feedback and identified 
the key issues in raising complaints within the 
mental health setting, we began work with a group of 
central government agencies, each with legislative 
responsibility in managing mental health complaints. 
The committee was derived from one of the three 
recommendations from the Mental Health Consumer 
Perspectives Report – this being key agency 
collaboration. 

Throughout 2014-15, consultation with this group – 
consisting of the Office of the Chief Psychiatrist, Council 
of Official Visitors, Mental Health Commission and the 
Office of Mental Health – has been ongoing to develop 
an agreed consensus around:

 Each of our roles in managing mental health 
complaints.

 Principles to guide effective complaint resolution.

 Mechanisms for State government agencies to work 
collaboratively to resolve complex mental health 
complaints, particularly where the standard process 
is not suitable.

This in turn led to the development of a draft Mental 
Health Complaints Partnership Agreement – see below.  
The Agreement was developed in two parts:

Agreement

A principles-based document that symbolises the 
collaborative intent of how the agencies involved will 
work together to more effectively manage mental health 
complaints. 

Addendum 

A working document that outlines the respective roles 
and responsibilities of the agencies involved when 
managing mental health complaints. Included in this is 
an action plan to operationalise the Agreement which 
proposes six initiatives on which stakeholders will 
collectively work in 2015-16. It is acknowledged that the 
Agreement alone is unlikely to have the desired impact, 
given its conceptual nature. 

HaDSCO had a period of public consultation in May 
- June 2015 to share the proposals outlined in the 
Agreement and Addendum, and to gain feedback from 
the wider community.  

As a small Office we look to build upon existing relationships to create meaningful partnerships, to have 
a greater impact. Through collaboration and involvement with key agencies in the health, disability and 
mental health sectors, together we can make recommendations that have real benefit for all West 
Australians. 

Promoting system improvements through 
collaboration and partnerships

Moving Forward

In early 2015-16 the Mental Health 
Complaints Partnership Agreement will be 
officially launched following the finalisation 
of the public consultation period and 
subsequent amendments. Led by HaDSCO, 
the launch will outline the collaborative 
commitment for delivering the Agreement 
and specific initiatives arising from the 
Agreement. It will include the contributions 
made by both government and 
non-government stakeholders in 
establishing the Agreement.
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Health Provider Consultative Committee
One of the core functions of the Office, is to collaborate 
with the community, to review and identify the causes 
of complaints, and to suggest ways of removing and 
minimising those causes. In addition, we have a 
responsibility to inquire into broader issues of health care 
and to provide advice to support system improvements. 
These legislative functions of our Office provide the basis 
for us to develop and implement a model that identifies 
system issues and, respectively, to find strategies to 
address them.

To facilitate this, in 2014-15 we convened a Health 
Provider Consultative Committee (HPCC) comprised 
of executive officers from public and private health 
providers. Broadly, the purpose of the committee was 
to collaboratively identify and address systemic health 
issues and avoid duplication across the health sector. 
This year we committed to:

 Outline a proposed approach for HaDSCO to 
identify system issues in the health sector that have 
the potential for negative impact across the WA 
community.

 Identify consequential actions that HaDSCO and/
or relevant stakeholders should take to address the system issues identified, in order to improve the quality of 
health and disability services.

Partnering with advocates and community leaders 
Arising from the disability focus groups, we became aware of the need for us to further develop relationships and 
links with key advocacy agencies and community leaders. Many of these session attendees had at some point 
utilised the services of a community leader or advocate to help with their complaint. 

We acknowledged the integral role of both advocates and community leaders, in that they provide trusted information 
and guidance, often acting as the first point of contact for vulnerable people. We recognised that, by establishing 
good relationships with these individuals and organisations, we could ensure more people are aware of our services 
and have timely and representative information when considering whether to raise a complaint.

Promoting system improvements through collaboration 
and partnerships (Continued)

Did you know?

Along with this committee, the continuing 
work of HaDSCO’s CCRG marks an 
important transition for our Office as we 
continually look at ways to bring about 
system change for the benefit of both 
consumers and providers.

With our focus on increasing collaboration 
with consumers and providers, both the 
CCRG and HPCC help to ensure that both 
consumer and provider perspectives are 
incorporated in our service delivery and 
educational resources. 

3. Office performance
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Promoting system improvements through collaboration  
and partnerships (Continued)

Also, in line with our commitment to providing inclusive services to Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) 
communities, we recognised that community leaders often act as the primary contact for these communities, by 
providing information to usually hard-to-reach groups, such as migrants and ethnic minorities. It was therefore 
essential that we reach out to this group.

To kick start this project, we held an Advocates and Community Leaders Day in partnership with the following 
agencies:

 Advocare

 Arafmi

 Carers WA

 Consumers of Mental Health WA

 Council of Official Visitors

 Disability Services Commission

 Ethnic Disability Advocacy Centre

 Health Consumers Council

 People with Disability WA

The event, split into two parts, consisted of an open day and workshop. The open day, as a public event, aimed to:

 Raise the profile of the Office amongst key community members

 Outline current projects and invite involvement and participation where suitable

 Network and strengthen relationships

 Define each of the event partner roles and responsibilities in managing complaints to provide clarity to the 
general public

With a slightly different focus, the workshop was offered to advocates, community leaders and inter-related service 
providers. This provided an opportunity to discuss what effective complaints handling might look like, with a focus on 
system improvement.

The day was attended by over 100 people, with discussions centred on how we might best work together to manage 
complaints. The open day and workshop formed the initial stage of engagement with this sector. A subsequent 
dedicated page was set up on HaDSCO’s Collaborate and Learn site for attendees to access relevant information.
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Sharing what we have learned from complaints 

By sharing our specialist complaints handling knowledge we seek to promote a healthy complaints 
management culture. Using our expertise spanning health, disability and mental health sectors, we aim to 
empower our service users.

Empowering providers through 
education
In consultation with our stakeholders, we worked to 
establish an Effective Complaints Handling Manual 
as a means to share information on best practice. 
The manual provides an overview of what HaDSCO 
considers to be important aspects of effective complaint 
management.

Using this manual, we delivered a series of pilot training 
sessions on effective complaints management. The 
training sessions provided a valuable opportunity to 
share useful complaints handling techniques and tips 
with targeted provider groups including management, 
patient liaison officers and patient service assistants. 
This saw us undertake specific training programs with 
health and disability providers during 2014-15. Moving 
forward this will see us look at how training can be 
delivered in a sustainable way in accordance with limited 
resources and funding.

Collaborate and Learn
Being able to relay timely and relevant information to 
our stakeholders is essential. To ensure we were able to 
do this to the best of our ability, we worked to develop 

HaDSCO’s online engagement platform – Collaborate 
and Learn – during 2014-15.

This included the establishment of a series of dedicated 
project pages tailored to individual group needs, 
including advocates, commissioners and CCRG, to keep 
stakeholders well informed and provide access to key 
resources relating to their areas of interest.

Additionally we developed a range of features available 
publicly, such as a comprehensive news function, 
relaying topical information from across health, disability 
and mental health sectors, as well as HaDSCO specific 
developments and updates. 

This year there was an added focus on developing a 
bank of useful resources and case studies. This was in 
response to feedback from site users, who identified that 
such resources would be beneficial in their work. 

For closed access groups, where information is available 
through individual login details, we created a series of 
interactive tools for Department of Health and wider 
health services - including public, private and not-
for-profit hospitals -enabling users to easily compare 
complaints data and view resources related to the issues 
identified in those complaints. This was launched with 
endorsement from Department of Health Executives as 
a means to enable users to easily compare complaints 
data and share information.

Moving Forward

During 2014-15 we undertook 
extensive consultation with 
members of the CCRG to 
review our full print and online 
suite, gaining feedback about 
the information service users 
want to receive. This will help 
us to create a new print suite, 
including brochures, posters 
and information sheets, that 
is fully reflective of our service 
users’ needs, as well as a new 
website and increased usability 
on our online engagement site - 
Collaborate and Learn. 
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Sharing what we have learned from complaints (Continued)

Health complaint trends in WA
During 2014-15 we released a report which compares complaints received between 1 July 2010 and 30 June 2014 
from two sources:

1) HaDSCO data – this includes all complaints made directly to HaDSCO about health services

2) External data – this includes complaints data received directly by service providers, who then submit their 
data to us on an annual basis.

We developed this report to highlight consistent and contrasting trends and issues over a four year period. It is an 
example of the work that we undertake to share information about complaints and create opportunities to improve 
health service delivery in WA.                       

Keeping our stakeholders well informed

We continued to keep our subscribers up-to-date with Office projects, developments and news through the 
publication of our quarterly e-newsletter HaDSCO Connect. 

During 2014-15 we continued to promote and grow our free subscription service as a means to do this, doubling the 
number of subscription list members over the course of the year. 

Additionally, 6,746 of HaDSCO’s targeted brochures 
were distributed to a range of services and organisations 
throughout WA. These brochures provide information 
about our role and services and detail the ways in which 
a complaint can be raised with us, including details about 
how to contact the Office. 

We also utilised opportunities to feature in a range of 
sector publications and websites to promote awareness 
of HaDSCO and build interagency relationships. 
This included utilising meaningful and tailored media 
opportunities including features in The West Australian 
Disability Awareness Week 2014 and Health + Medicine 
Mental Health Week Special supplement, reaching a 
readership state-wide of over 651,000 West Australians.

Underpinning our tailored engagement programs is the key concept of raising HaDSCO’s profile. We do this 
by providing information about the services we offer and the initiatives we have running via a range of print 
and online mechanisms, as well as a range of events. 

Moving Forward

As part of the print and online review, 
we will be looking at alternative ways 
of keeping our stakeholders informed, 
taking into consideration the feedback 
received as part of our strategic 
planning process for 2015-18.

201212142 
 

Case Study  
The role of family in patient observation  

Background  
Mrs A alleges that her late husband, Mr A, did not receive adequate anti coagulation 

therapy following surgery for an ankle injury. He was re-admitted and Mrs A

witnessed an “episode”, where the colour of his skin turned blue and he became 

breathless. This was not documented in the medical notes. He was released and 

later admitted via ambulance to hospital again with chest pain. Mr A subsequently 

passed away, allegedly as a result of a blood clot that had travelled to his lung.

 

Complainant objectives
 A more thorough explanation An apology
 A review of systems and procedures To prevent this happening to someone elseOutcome from HaDSCO’s involvement This case was managed via conciliation and the following agreements were reached:

- Anticoagulation medication: There was no agreement reached on this 

point. The hospital were of the view that research does not support long term 

use of Clexane in ankle surgery and that their best practice protocol goes 

against the use of Clexane in this instance.- Possible blood clot: It was acknowledged that it was possible that the 

episode that Mr A had in the Emergency Department (ED) was a pulmonary 

embolism.

- Urinary catheter: The hospital advised that the catheter was not inserted 

incorrectly. However, it was acknowledged that the tubing leading to the 

catheter was kinked when Mr A re-presented to the ED. This had resulted in 

poor urine output. The hospital took this very seriously and the two nurses 

involved were retrained in accordance with the practice protocol. This requires 

checking of the catheter at least two hours prior to discharge, which did not 

happen in this instance.

- Medical records: It was acknowledged by the provider that the medical notes 

did not record the “episode” that Mr A had experienced in ED. The provider 

acknowledged best practice encourages such “episodes” to be recorded in 

the medical notes, even if unwitnessed. There was inconsistency between 

Summary and comparison of 

complaints received by Health 

Providers and the Health and 

Disability Services Complaints Office 

(HaDSCO), Western Australia

Health Complaint Trends Report 

2010-14
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Regional engagement was a key focus for the 
Office this year, and as such we undertook more 
regional outreach activities than ever before. 
These consisted of a mix of both HaDSCO-
led, and partner events, including complaint 
clinics – providing one-on-one advice to 
individuals, to effective complaint handling 
sessions – providing tailored complaints training 
packages to groups, and everything in-between.

These programs enabled us to strengthen relationships 
with community groups and service users, and helped 
to promote the work of HaDSCO.

 Indian Ocean Territories (IOT) visit  
– Christmas Island

As part of the Service Delivery Arrangement with 
the Australian Government our services are also 
available to residents of the Indian Ocean Territories 
(IOT). Given the remoteness of this area, we wanted 
to pursue outreach to produce a resource that would 
have a lasting effect and be useful for Island residents. 
This saw us undertake two streams of outreach with 
members of the Christmas Island community. 

The first was a series of individual meetings with 
community members to talk through any issues or 
concerns about services provided on the Island, 
both formally and informally. These sessions were 
also a valuable opportunity to provide information 
on HaDSCO’s services, helping to foster a greater 
understanding of the role of our Office. 

Stream two focused on a similar concept to the ‘Speak 
up – do something about it’ video resource, whereby we 
sought to create a short information video for use on the 
Island. For this we consulted with community members 
on the Island and in the metropolitan area both before 
and after the visit, in reference to creating a video 
resource, suitable for CALD communities. On the Island 
we sourced volunteer community members to feature 
in the video, with them relaying details of HaDSCO’s 
services in a range of their local languages.

 Ombudsman’s Regional Access and Awareness 
Program 
HaDSCO participated in the Ombudsman’s Regional 
Access and Awareness Program visiting Kalgoorlie 
to deliver tailored presentations, complaint clinics 
and meetings with regional communities including 
consumer and service providers.

 Midwest and Great Southern 
We partnered with the Individual Disability Advocacy 
Service to reach vulnerable communities in 
Geraldton, Albany and Katanning through tailored 
community and provider education sessions. 

 South West 
The Office visited the South West Region including 
Bunbury and Busselton to deliver a focus group with 
the disability community. We also used the visit to 
speak with key groups including the health service, 
Disability Services Commission and key not-for-profit 
groups.

 Kimberley 
We visited Broome communities to deliver disability 
focus groups and to deliver Complaint Handling 
Training with key Disability Service Providers

Providing a service for all West Australians

Reaching our regional, aboriginal and CALD communities has its own set of challenges. Each year we tailor 
and plan a schedule of outreach activities and specific initiatives to engage with otherwise hard-to-reach 
communities.

Moving Forward

In 2015-16 we will work to finalise 
the Christmas Island video 
resource and promote its use both 
on the Island and mainland WA, 
throughout CALD communities. 
Given the clear and concise dialogue 
used in the video, the resource 
will be transferable to a variety of 
communities, providing information 
about the services available and 
helping to increase awareness.
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Providing a service for all West Australians (Continued)

‘Speak up – do something about it’ video 
As part of NAIDOC week 
celebrations held during July 2014, 
HaDSCO released an indigenous 
focused complaints video titled: 
‘Speak up – do something about 
it’, starring volunteer members of 
Perth’s Noongar community.

Developed in response to the fact we currently do not 
receive many complaints from Aboriginal consumers, 
we knew that in order to overcome this, we needed to 
look at alternative ways of reaching these communities. 

The short video, developed in partnership with 
Yorgum Aboriginal Corporation, was created to help 
raise awareness of HaDSCO’s services, and to help 
community members better understand how we can 
assist them with their complaints about health, disability 
and mental health services.

Centred around the slogan ‘Speak up – do 
something about it’, the video aims to reinforce the 
key message that it’s okay to complain, as, through 
raising a complaint, problems can be highlighted and 
improvements made. It features real life examples of 
the types of situations or scenarios that might give rise 
to complaints, to help illustrate the type of complaints 
we receive.

Following a launch event with Yorgum Aboriginal 
Corporation in July 2015, over 250 copies of the 
video have been sent out to various organisations 
and individuals for use as a training and educational 
resource. To supplement this we also created a full 
promotional package, including posters, to encourage 
the use of the video. 

Additionally we promoted the resource through guest 
speaker presentations at events including the Aboriginal 
Health Conference July 2014 and the Aboriginal 
Maternity and Child Health May 2015, as well a 
question and answer segment on Perth’s Noongar 
Community radio.

The video can be viewed via our Collaborate and Learn 
site at: www.collaborateandlearn.wa.gov.au.

Moving Forward

We will continue to promote the 
video as an educational resource and 
are exploring opportunities to do so, 
including the possibility of both radio 
and television options.
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In 2014-15 we:

We manage complaints about health, disability and mental health service providers spanning the public, 
private and not-for-profit sectors. Information is collected about every complaint we receive, regardless of 
the nature of the complaint or how far the case progresses through our complaint management process. 
We do this because it enables us to accurately record the work we perform and this information assists us 
to identify potential system issues. 

 
It is important to remember that these complaints are allegations from the perspective of the person who made the 
complaint. These results do not imply that the provider was at fault; instead the data shows the perspectives and 
experiences of people who made a complaint.

Overview of complaint trends

The report focuses on outcomes achieved for individual consumers as well as wider system improvements, 
implemented as a result of HaDSCO’s complaints resolution process. Case studies, which have been de-identified to 
protect the privacy of all parties concerned, are used to demonstrate the context in which complaints are received, as 
well as illustrate the variety of issues involved and the outcomes achieved.

Quality complaints management
A primary function of HaDSCO is to provide an accessible 

and impartial service for the resolution of health, disability and 
mental health complaints. In this section, information is provided 

on the number and type of enquiries and complaints received, and how 
complaints are resolved. 

Health Complaints Mental Health  
Complaints

Out of jurisdiction 
Complaints

Disability Complaints

72% 3% 12% 14%

3. Office performance

A breakdown of the types of complaints received are below:

138 of the complaints 
recieved prior to 2014-15 

were closed during the 
2014-15 reporting period

123 complaints were 
recieved in 2014-15 

and will continue to be 
managed in 2015-16

2296 complaints were 
both recieved and closed 

during 2014-15

closed
2,434 

complaints

recieved
2,419 

complaints

* Please note that percentages may not add to 100% due to rounding.
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Overview of complaint trends (Continued)

Figure 1: Complaints closed between 2009-10 and 2014-15

Did you know?

Complaints received and closed in 2014-15 are not the same. Why? Because complaints are not 
always closed in the same year that they are received. 132 complaints from 2014-15 were still open 
at the end of the financial year and continued to be managed.

How does this compare with previous years? 

- The number of complaints closed in 2013-14 and 2014-15 was very similar,  
2485 compared with 2434 this year.

- Out of jurisdiction complaints are complaints that HaDSCO does not have the legislative 
mandate to manage. When we receive an out of jurisdiction complaint we listen to the person’s 
concerns and provide them details of a more suitable agency to contact. The proportion of out 
of jurisdiction complaints received by our Office has decreased from 25% of closed complaints 
in 2009-10 to 14% of closed complaints in 2014-15. This indicates that we are effectively 
communicating the role of our Office to people living in WA and IOT.
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Our complaints management process (Continued)Our complaints management process

1 – Enquiry

We provide people with 
information about how to 
make a complaint. This may 
include explaining our complaints 
processes, providing information 
about how to make a complaint 
in the first instance and/or 
determining which complaints 
agency is the most appropriate 
to manage the complaint.

2 – Assessment

We are able to assess a complaint once we have 
received the following information:

Evidence that the complaint is about a health, 
disability or mental health provider.

Confirmation that the consumer (or their 
representative) has attempted to resolve the 

complaint with the provider in the first instance.

A copy of the complaint in writing.

A signed authorisation form to confirm that 
the consumer would like us to assist with the 

resolution of the complaint.

Information to confirm that the complaint 
relates to an incident that occurred within the 

last two years.

However, in exceptional circumstances the Director may 
accept complaints that do not meet all of the criteria 

above, with this being managed on a case-by-case basis. 

Once we have the information required to commence 
assessment, we review the complaint to determine if we 

can accept it. A complaint can only be accepted if it meets 
the criteria outlined in our legislation see page 19. At the 

end of the assessment process we may accept, reject 
or refer a complaint to a more appropriate agency. If we 

cannot accept the complaint we will close it after providing 
information about other complaint resolution options. 

During the Assessment process we may identify a 
registered practitioner in a complaint. When this occurs, we 

are required by law to notify AHPRA about the registered 
practitioner. Information about the HaDSCO-AHPRA 

referral process is available in page 19.

3 – Complaint resolution pathway

Once a complaint is accepted we must determine which of 
our three voluntary complaint resolution pathways is most 

appropriate to resolve the complaint: 

Negotiated settlement: During the negotiated 
settlement process we become a central 
contact through which the consumer, 

complainant, provider and other relevant people 
can exchange information. In this role we function 

as an impartial and independent intermediary, 
to facilitate the resolution of the complaint. This is 

typically a paper-based approach. 

Conciliation: During the conciliation process we work 
with each party to identify the outcomes that they 

would like to achieve, and then facilitate discussions to 
move parties towards an agreed outcome. This is typically 

conducted face-to-face.

Investigation: An investigation is a formal process to 
determine if the provider’s conduct was reasonable. We also 

make recommendations about improvements to future service 
delivery. Investigations are rare in their nature and are undertaken 

if the complaint cannot be suitably managed through negotiated 
settlement or conciliation. Additionally, if no resolution is reached 

through these pathways and HaDSCO’s Director believes further 
inquiry is required, an investigation may be conducted. 

There are a number of factors we consider when making a decision about which 
complaint resolution pathway to use. We consider the risk to the public, nature of 

the complaint, the outcomes desired by the person who made the complaint and 
which process will achieve the best outcome for all parties.

3. Office performance3. Office performance



44

The types of outcomes that our Office can achieve depends on how far a complaint progresses through 
our complaint resolution process (see page 42-43).

Outcomes achieved for complaints 
closed in Enquiry or Assessment
During Enquiry and Assessment we listen to the 
concerns of the person making the complaint and 
provide information about options to resolve their 
concerns. If we are provided with enough information 
from the person who made the complaint, we can 
assess the complaint to determine if we can accept it. 

During these stages of our complaint management 
process we achieve many outcomes for the person who 
made the complaint, including:

 Providing advice about how to complain to a health, 
disability or mental health service.

 Clarifying outcomes sought and managing 
expectations about the likelihood of these outcomes 
being met.

 Referring people to relevant complaint agencies if 
we are not the correct agency to assist.

 Referring people to advocacy services if they need 
support/assistance to make a complaint.

 Clarifying information received by the complainant 
with the relevant service provider. 

Outcomes achieved for complaints 
closed in a complaint resolution 
pathway
Once we accept a complaint, it will be allocated to one 
of three complaint resolution pathways – negotiated 
settlement, conciliation or investigation. During these 
processes we work impartially with the person who 
made the complaint and the service provider to 
resolve the complaint. From this process we can make 
recommendations about ways to improve service 
delivery.

Positive outcomes that we can achieve during these 
processes include:

 Apology from the provider about the way the 
complaint was handled.

 Apology from the provider about the service that 
was provided.

 Explanation from the provider about the factors that 
contributed to the issues in the complaint.

 Financial reimbursement (e.g. refund, 
compensation or goodwill payment) to acknowledge 
the circumstances that resulted in the complaint.

 Service improvement made by the provider to 
prevent a similar issue from arising in the future. 
Examples of service improvements include review 
of existing policies/procedures, staff training/
development and changes to processes/practices.

In 2014-15, 86 service improvements were managed 
by the Office. Examples of service improvement 
recommendations made by HaDSCO that were 
implemented by providers during 2014-15 are detailed 
below:

Review/change of policy

 Complaint management process: improving and 
streamlining the process.

 Clinical handover policy.

Staff training provided to

 Increase the awareness of health services’ 
complaint management processes.

 Increase the understanding of Carers Recognition 
Act.

 Aid continuing professional development: clinical 
and communication skills.

Developing teaching resources 

 Complaint used as a case study to increase 
awareness of staff and reduce similar incidents from 
occurring in future.

Change in process

 Reinforcing roles and responsibility of nursing staff 
to ensure better patient care.

 Increased transparency about treatment options.

 Better documentation in medical records.

Improved communication

 Producing and displaying appropriate signage for 
fees.

 Increased involvement with family and carers in 
decision making.

 Managing patient, carer expectations.

 Developing patient information pamphlets.

 Better informed financial consent.

The outcomes we achieve

3. Office performance



45

Case study

The complainant had received notice from 
a radiology practice about an outstanding 
payment, threatening legal action if the 
account was not settled. She had not 
paid the account on the grounds that the 
practice had doubled their scheduled fee 
and had given her no option regarding 
the service as she was in the Operating 
Theatre of a private hospital at the time.

HaDSCO discussed the details to establish 
whether the complainant had signed 
forms upon admission consenting to 
such extra charges. The complainant 
recalled that the bill from the radiology 
practice stated that she had not provided 
consent for the service, due to being in the 
Operating Theatre.

HaDSCO advised the complainant to 
contact the Collections Manager directly, 
requesting that legal action be put on 
hold as she wished to dispute the amount. 
HaDSCO also sent relevant information 
and a complaint form to the complainant 
should she wish to pursue the matter 
further.

As advised, the complainant contacted 
the Collections Manager and explained 
her reasons for not settling the account. 
Following the discussion, it was agreed 
that the complainant would only have to 
pay half the amount. The complainant was 
very pleased with the positive outcome. 

Case study

The complainant attended a dental clinic 
to have a free scale and clean, as per the 
annual provision from their private health 
fund. At the end of the appointment, they 
were charged extra fees for the x-rays 
and fluoride they were given. However, the 
complainant had not consented to these 
additional procedures and had not been 
made aware of the costs.

Following HaDSCO’s complaint resolution 
process, the dental practice agreed 
to provide a refund of the fee to the 
complainant.

HaDSCO case studies

3. Office performance
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HaDSCO case studies (Continued)

Case study

A complainant underwent surgery at a 
private hospital. He was concerned that 
he was not given adequate post-surgical 
care, which delayed his recovery. He also 
felt that he had suffered after-effects 
from the anaesthetic. The complainant 
raised his concerns with the provider 
and received a written response, but he 
was not satisfied that it addressed his 
complaint so he contacted HaDSCO.

HaDSCO worked with both parties 
utilising the conciliation process. HaDSCO 
facilitated a conciliation meeting between 
the complainant and the hospital. This 
enabled parties to openly discuss the 
issues.

The hospital provided the complainant 
with details regarding the anaesthetic 
he had been given and the possible side 
effects. They also apologised for the 
distress. The hospital explained their 
post-surgical care policies and noted that 
staff would receive additional training 
in customer service. The complainant 
indicated that although he still felt upset 
by what had occurred, he accepted the 
information provided by the hospital and 
was satisfied that steps had been taken to 
ensure it would not happen again.

Case study

The complainant called an after-hours 
medical service mid-afternoon but the 
doctor was unable to attend until after 
6pm. The complainant was unhappy 
because he was told the fee would be $50 
but was then charged $130. He contacted 
HaDSCO to discuss his complaint and 
explained that he was seeking a refund for 
the difference.

In discussion with the provider, it was 
explained that the fee was set at the time 
the call was made, regardless of when 

the doctor attended. It was also clarified 
that the Medicare rebate for the $130 call 
was $60 and therefore the out of pocket 
charge was $70.

The provider agreed to refund the 
consumer due to the confusion and sent a 
memo to staff asking them to clarify fees 
with medical practices and/or patients 
prior to confirming a booking.

3. Office performance
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We collect, analyse, evaluate and report 
on both sets of complaints data. By doing 
this we can compare the information we 
have received directly with the wider sector, 
utilising a larger quantity of information to 
analyse and identify consistent themes.

HaDSCO data
We receive complaints directly to our Office from 
members of the West Australian community about 
concerns relating to health, disability and mental 
health services. Regardless of the nature of the 
complaint, or how far it progresses through our 
complaints management process, we record 
information with which we are provided. This 
enables us to capture information from across the 
sectors and identify potential system issues.  

We always endeavour to accurately record the type 
of provider (e.g. General Practitioner, dentist or 
nurse for example) who is delivering a service and 
have used this information to categorise complaints 
into one of three categories – health, disability or 
mental health.  

We acknowledge that the nature of some 
complaints can be complex and a single provider 
could deliver a combination of health, disability or 
mental health services. However, we hope that by 
separating our data into these groups, it provides 
a better understanding of the similarities and 
differences between health, disability and mental 
health complaints. Also, by separating complaints 
in this way, we are able to compare the information 
we receive directly with that of external complaints 
data, which is collected by service providers on an 
annual basis.

Our case studies
Case studies have been included in this report 
with the permission of the person who made the 
complaint and the provider involved. The case 
studies illustrate complaint issues from the point 
of view of the person who made the complaint 
and share important lessons about complaints. 
While we always aim to ensure the accuracy and 
completeness of these stories, some details have 
been omitted from the case studies to protect the 
privacy of consumers, carers and service providers 
who access our services.

We report on two sets of complaints data:
HaDSCO data: a summary of the types of complaints about health, disability and mental health 
services received directly by HaDSCO 

External data: a summary of the types of complaints received directly by health and disability 
providers, submitted to HaDSCO

Complaints data

3. Office performance
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Complaints data (Continued)

External data
In most instances, members of the community are 
required to raise complaints directly with the service 
provider in the first instance. Therefore as an Office 
we have several programs established to ensure that 
service providers pass on their aggregated complaint 
data to us on an annual basis. 

By law we are required to collect complaints data from 
health, disability and mental health service providers in 
WA. This sees service providers submit their complaints 
data (i.e. information on the complaints they have 
received directly) to us in an agreed de-identified 
format each year. HaDSCO currently has two key data 
collection programs established:

Health complaints: We collect health 
complaint data annually from 26 service 
providers who are required to submit the 
data under s75 of the Health and Disability 
Services Complaints Act 1995 and are 
specified in the Health and Disability 
Services (Complaints) Regulations 2010. 
These include public, private and not-for-
profit service providers who were selected 
to participate in the program because they 
represent a cross-section of health providers 
in WA. To see a list of these health providers 
please refer to ‘Appendix’ page 118’. 

Disability complaints: We now also collect 
disability complaint data annually from 21 
disability service providers under s48A of 
the Disability Services Act 1993. The 2014-
15 financial year is the first year we have 
collected complaint data from disability 
service providers. To see a list of the 
prescribed disability service providers please 
refer to ‘Appendix’ page 119’.

Moving Forward

Mental health complaints: Currently 
we do not have a program to receive 
complaints data from mental health 
service providers - we only receive 
mental health complaints made 
directly to our Office. Similar to 
the health and disability complaint 
programs currently in place, we 
intend to develop a program to receive 
mental health complaints from a 
group of prescribed mental health 
service providers under s309 of the 
Mental Health Act 2014. This work 
will be progressed during the 2015-16 
reporting period.

3. Office performance
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Who made a complaint to HaDSCO?

Gender of people who made complaints about 
health services*

*  Please note that percentages may not add to  
100% due to rounding

Relationship to the person receiving the service

Health

Other

Carer

Sibling

Friend

Relative

Partner

Spouse

Child/ Parent

Self

Number of complaints: 1,754

What did people complain about?

We closed 1,754 health complaints in 2014-15 and 2,635 issues were identified in these complaints. That is 
equivalent to 1 or 2 issues per complaint. These issues are the same as the top issues reported in 2013-14. 

HaDSCO data

Health complaints – a closer look

200 210 220 230 240 250 260 270
Number of issues

Unexpected treatment outcome/complications = 259

Inadequate treatment = 255

Attitude/manner = 231

Billing practices = 224

Male Female Unknown

47% 52% 1%

3. Office performance
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Health complaints – a closer look (Continued)

Unexpected treatment outcome 
‘If my husband was correctly diagnosed and treated we could have avoided further pain and suffering.’

Inadequate treatment  
‘I was diagnosed with a condition, but did not receive the follow-up treatment that I needed’. 

Attitude/manner  
‘I felt like the staff were rude and not very understanding’.

Billing practices  
‘After finishing my treatment, I was charged extra fees that I was not made aware of’.

Issue type definitions
Issues raised by complainants are allegations only and do not imply that the provider is at fault.

Issue Examples of allegations

Attitude/manner • The provider’s manner was offensive (e.g. rude, lacked sensitivity 
and/or was patronising).

Coordination of treatment • No one took responsibility for the consumer’s treatment/care.

• Conflicting decisions were made.

• Lack of communication between service providers. 

Delay in treatment • Long wait times to be admitted, assessed or to receive health 
treatment.

Inadequate consultation • The length of time or location of the consultation was inadequate.

• An examination was performed that is not related to the condition 
with which the consumer presented.

Inadequate treatment • Treatment was incomplete or insufficient.

Unexpected treatment 
outcome/complications

• Treatment resulted in an unexpected and undesirable outcome for 
the consumer.

• Treatment resulted in complications for the consumer.

HaDSCO Data

3. Office performance
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Health complaints – a closer look (Continued)

I wasn’t told about 
the side-effects of 
the treatment.

Why did I have to 
wait so long to get 
an appointment?

I didn’t understand what 
was happening and 
they were rude when I 
asked questions.

Emerging issues
Potential emerging issues are defined as issues that increased by 
the largest volume between 2010-11 and 2014-15. 
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Health complaints – a closer look (Continued)

Who did people complain about?
1,754 health complaints were closed in 2014-15.  
The section below outlines the top 3 provider types 
identified in these complaints.

21% of health complaints related to general practices 
and practitioners. 

Top reasons why 368 people contacted our Office in 
relation to general practices and practitioners: 

 complaints about attitude/manner – 21% 
 complaints about billing practices – 12% 
 complaints about a refusal to admit or  

 treat patients – 8%

15% of health complaints related to prison health. 

Top reasons why 255 people contacted our Office in 
relation to prison health services: 

 complaints about inadequate treatment – 24% 
 complaints about delay in treatment – 15% 
 complaints about prescribing medication – 11%

6% of health complaints about dental health. 

Top reasons why 101 people contacted our Office in 
relation to dental health services: 

 complaints about unexpected treatment 
 outcome/complications – 39% 

 complaints about billing practices – 34%  
 complaints about inadequate treatment – 21%
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The chart below shows that complaints about the Top 3 health providers were very similar in 2013-14  
and 2014-15.

HaDSCO Data
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Health complaints – a closer look (Continued)

Each year we collect complaint information from a representation of 26 public, private and not-for-profit health service 
providers in WA. We analyse this information and identify broad trends relating to the:

• Number of complaints that were received directly by service providers.

• Types of issues raised about health service delivery.

• Time taken to resolve complaints.

• Outcomes achieved by health service providers for people who made complaints.

• Demographic information of people who made complaints.

A snapshot is included below:
Who made complaints directly to the health provider?

63%

30%

7% Patients

Patient
representatives

Unknown

What did people complain about?
7,267 complaints received 
11,554 issues

That is equivalent to 1.6 issues per complaint

What did people complain about?

1. Quality of clinical care - 29% 
2. Communication - 23% 
3. Access - 18% 
4. Rights, respect and dignity - 12% 
5. Corporate services - 7%   

Time taken to resolve complaints 

 71% of complaints resolved within 30 days

Top outcomes achieved

 Explanation provided - 33% 
 Apology provided - 25% 
 Concern registered - 17%

External data

External Data

3. Office performance
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Health complaints – a closer look (Continued)

Public vs Private vs Not-for-profit breakdown

Public Private Not-for-profit

5,020 complaints  

8,026 issues  

Ave 1.6 issues per 
complaint

2,044 complaints

3,233 issues

Ave 1.6 issues per 
complaint

203 complaints  

295 issues

Ave 1.5 issues per 
complaint

What did people complain about?

Public Private Not-for-profit

Quality of clinical care (31%)

Communication (24%)

Access (21%)

Rights, respect and dignity 
(12%)

Corporate services (5%)

Quality of clinical care (24%)

Communication (20%)

Costs (17%) 

Rights, respect and dignity 
(12%)

Corporate services (13%)

Communication (28%)

Quality of clinical care (25%)

Costs (17%)

Rights, respect and dignity 
(15%)

Access (12%)

Time taken to resolve complaints

The percentage of complaints resolved within 30 days:

Public Private Not-for-profit

65% 87% 60% 

External Data
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Health complaints – a closer look (Continued)

Top outcomes achieved

Public Private Not-for-profit

Explanation provided (34%)

Apology provided (22%)

Concern registered (18%)

Apology provided (32%)

Explanation provided (30%)

Concern registered (12%)

Concern registered (41%)

Explanation provided (31%) 

Apology provided & 
counselling and/or 
performance support and 
development provided 
to staff member(s) or 
contractor(s) (6%)

Moving Forward

In 2015-16 we plan to increase the number of providers who submit their complaints data 
to us to ensure that the information is more representative of complaints received across 
the WA health sector. This will be coupled with improvements to the quality of complaints 
information currently collected.

External Data
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Disability complaints – a closer look

Who made a complaint to HaDSCO?

Gender of people who made complaints about 
Disability services*

 * Please note that percentages may not add to  
100% due to rounding

Relationship to the person receiving the service

Disability

Number of complaints: 56

HaDSCO data

Male Female Unknown

38% 59% 4%

Other

Carer

Sibling

Friend

Relative

Partner

Spouse

Child/ Parent

 
 

 

What did people complain about?

We closed 56 disability complaints in 2014-15 and 112 issues were identified in these complaints. The 
number of disability complaints received has increased from 19 in 2009-10 to 56 in 2014-15. This is the 
largest number of disability complaints ever closed by our Office. 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

Communication = 8

Complaint resolution = 12

Staff competence = 7

Treatment or care = 6

Number of issues
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Complaint resolution  
When I tried to raise my concerns, I wasn’t taken seriously.

Communication 
Staff didn’t communicate with me regarding changes to my treatment plan.

Staff competence 
I didn’t feel confident in the skills of the people looking after me.

Treatment or care 
Access to treatment is taking longer than it should and it’s affecting my quality of life.

Disability issue type definitions
Issues raised by complainants are allegations only and do not imply that the provider is at fault. 

Issue Examples of allegations

Communication • Communication was not clear or culturally appropriate.

Complaint resolution • Issues were not resolved within a reasonable timeframe.

• Information about complaint and dispute resolution processes 
were not made available.

Failure to consult carer • Care/treatment plans were not discussed with the carer.

No/inadequate service • Appointments were not kept.

Staff conduct • Services were insufficient, non-existent or had inadequate 
resources (e.g. limited facilities).

Unexpected treatment 
outcome/complications

• Staff conduct or behaviour was inappropriate, offensive, 
unprofessional or discriminatory.

Disability complaints – a closer look (Continued) HaDSCO Data
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Disability complaints – a closer look (Continued)

I’m concerned 
about the care 
that my child is 
receiving.

They are constantly 
running late or cancelling 
appointments. It’s very 
frustrating.

I didn’t understand what 
was happening and they 
were rude when I asked 
questions.

Emerging issues
We recently updated our disability issue categories, therefore cannot provide emerging issues over a five year period, 
as has been included for health and mental health. A comparison of issues identified in 2013-14 and 2014-15 showed 
that the number of complaints about each issue category was very similar.

HaDSCO Data
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Disability complaints – a closer look (Continued)

Who did people complain about? 
The section below outlines the top 3 provider types 
identified in these complaints.

30% of disability complaints were about 
accommodation providers

Top reasons why 17 people contacted our Office in 
relation to accommodation providers:

 complaints about service delivery 
(e.g. communication) – 53%

 enquiries about how to make a complaint or how 
HaDSCO could assist with the resolution of a 
complaint – 29%

 complaints about complaint resolution  
processes – 24%

20% of disability complaints were about in-home 
support providers.

Top reasons why 11 people contacted our Office in 
relation to in-home support providers:

 complaints about service management (e.g. 
funding, coordination of service delivery) – 64%

 complaints about service delivery (e.g. no/
inadequate service) – 45%

 complaints about a failure to comply with the Carers 
Charter – 27%

13% of disability complaints were about grants/funding 
providers

Seven people contacted our Office in relation to 
providers that are responsible for grants/funding. Issues 
raised about these providers were varied, including 
issues about complaint resolution processes, service 
management, failure to comply with the Carer’s Charter 
and service delivery.

The chart below shows that the number of complaints about in-home support and grants/funding providers increased 
between 2013-14 and 2014-15, while the number of complaints about accommodation providers remained the same.

2013-14 2014-15
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2014-15 data
The 2014-15 reporting period formed the first year of the 
disability data collection process – i.e. the first year that 
we collected complaints information received directly by 
disability providers. We analysed this information and 
were able to identify broad trends relating to:

 Number of complaints received.

 Consumer demographics.

 Types of issues raised about disability services.

 Time taken to resolve complaints.

A snapshot is included below

Anonymous

Consumer

Legal guardian

Family member

Carer

Advocate

Friend, neighbour or
member of the public
Staff member of your
service
Other service provider

Other

 

 

Most complaints were received from family members

Demographics of consumers

Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander 2%

Other 69%

Unsure 21%

Not Collected 8%

Disability complaints – a closer look (Continued)

External data

External Data

3. Office performance



61

Age of consumers

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Less than 5 years old

5-10 years

11-15 years

16-18 years

19-25 years

26-35 years

36-45 years

46-55 years

56-65 years

66-75 years

76-90 years

Over 90 years old

Unknown

Not collected

Number of consumers  
Gender of consumers

  Female
33%

 Male
52%

 Transgender
0%

 Unknown
7%

 Not collected
8%

*  Please note that percentages may not add to 100% due to rounding

Disability complaints – a closer look (Continued) External Data
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Main disability with which the consumer has been diagnosed

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Intellectual
Specific learning/Attention Deficit Disorder

Autism
Physical

Acquired brain injury
Neurological

Sensory and speech
Psychiatric

Developmental delay
Not sure

Not collected
Other

Number of consumers
* Note: consumers may have more than one disability

355 complaints received

895 issues

That is equivalent to 2.5 issues per complaint

Which national disability standards 
were often cited in complaints?

23% Rights

23% Service management

19% Individual outcomes

18% Feedback and complaints

  6% Service access

  6% Participation and inclusion

  5% Not collected

*  Please note that percentages may not add to  
100% due to rounding.

What did people complain about?

33%   Staff related issues

29%   Service delivery, management  
 and quality

17%   Communication and relationships

 7%   Service access, access priority 
 and compatibility

 6% Carers Charter

Time taken to resolve complaints
73% of complaints were resolved within 30 days.

Disability complaints – a closer look (Continued) External Data
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Moving Forward

In 2015-16 we plan to increase the number of providers who submit their complaints 
data to us to ensure that the information is more representative of complaints received 
across the WA disability sector. This will be coupled with improvements to the quality of 
complaints information currently collected.

Disability complaints – a closer look (Continued)

Top five outcomes achieved
24%  Acknowledgement - of a person’s views or issues 

 (e.g. the person felt listened to, valued, respected)

18%   Answers - explanation or information about services provided

10%   Apology - from the service

 9%   Action - change or improvement to communication

 8%   Action - change or appointment of a worker/case manager/coordinator

Time taken to resolve complaints

External Data
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Mental health complaints - a closer look

HaDSCO data

Who made a complaint to HaDSCO?

Gender of people who made complaints about 
mental health services*

*  Please note that percentages may not add to  
100% due to rounding

Relationship to the person receiving the service

Mental health

Number of complaints: 286

Male Female Unknown

48% 52% 0%

Other

Carer

Sibling

Friend

Relative

Partner

Spouse

Child/ Parent

Self

What did people complain about?

We closed 286 mental health complaints in 2014-15 and 451 issues were identified in these complaints. 
When the Mental Health Act 2014 comes into effect at the end of 2015, HaDSCO will have an increased 
role in managing mental health complaints. As a result, we are expecting to receive a larger number of 
mental health complaints during the 2015-16 period. For more information about the Mental Health Act 
2014 and how this will affect HaDSCO, see page 75. 

Number of issues
0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

Attitude/manner = 40

Prescribing medication = 37

Excessive treatment = 36

Inadequate consultation = 29
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Mental health complaints - a closer look (Continued)

Attitude/manner  
‘The doctor was insensitive and uncaring’

Prescribing medication  
‘My prescription was changed to a medication that I did not feel comfortable taking’ 

Excessive treatment  
‘I was handling my condition better without medication, but now I am being forced to use it when I don’t 
need it’

Inadequate consultation  
‘The doctor didn’t take the time to listen to me and address my symptoms’

Mental health issue type definitions

Issues raised by complainants are allegations only and do not imply that the provider is at fault. 

Issue Examples of allegations

Communication • Communication was not clear or culturally appropriate.

Complaint resolution • Issues were not resolved within a reasonable timeframe.

• Information about complaint and dispute resolution processes 
were not made available.

Failure to consult carer • Care/treatment plans were not discussed with the carer.

No/inadequate service • Appointments were not kept.

Staff conduct • Services were insufficient, non-existent or had inadequate 
resources (e.g. limited facilities).

Unexpected treatment 
outcome/complications

• Staff conduct or behaviour was inappropriate, offensive, 
unprofessional or discriminatory.

HaDSCO Data
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Mental health complaints - a closer look (Continued)

Emerging issues
Potential emerging issues are defined as issues that increased by the largest volume between 2010-11 and 2014-15. 

They changed my 
medication without 
consulting me.

He was sent home 
because there were no 
beds available. I don’t 
think they even assessed 
him properly.

They didn’t take 
me seriously 
… I felt ignored 
and powerless

Financial year
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Who did people complain about?
286 mental health complaints were closed in 2014-15. Top 3 provider types identified in these complaints were:

70% of mental health complaints were about psychiatrists and psychiatry practices

Top reasons why 199 people contacted our Office in relation to psychiatrists and psychiatry practices:
 complaints about excessive treatment – 17%
 complaints about the attitude/manner of staff – 12%
 complaints about inadequate treatment – 11%
 complaints about prescribing medication – 11%

13% of mental health complaints were about prison mental health

Top reasons why 36 people contacted our Office in relation to prison mental health:
 complaints about prescribing medication – 36%
 complaints about delay in treatment – 14%
 complaints about inadequate consultation – 11%
 complaints about refusal to admit or treat – 11%

8% of mental health complaints were about psychologists

Top reasons why 24 people contacted our Office in relation to psychologists:
 complaints about billing practices – 25%
 complaints about attitude/manner of staff – 21%
 complaints about access to or transfer of records – 17%

Mental health complaints - a closer look (Continued)
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Mental health complaints - a closer look (Continued)

Moving Forward

Access to mental health complaints data to identify core issues and areas in need of 
extra focus is essential to ensure a targeted approach to service improvement. Section 
309 of the Mental Health Act 2014 directs prescribed service providers to furnish 
information about complaints to HaDSCO within a specified timeframe. Doing this allows 
us to collaborate with mental health stakeholders to identify and review the causes of 
complaints; suggest ways of removing or minimising the causes; and, bring them to the 
notice of the public. 

Whilst we already receive data from prescribed providers identified in the Health and 
Disability Services (Complaints) Regulations 2010, which includes some mental health 
service providers, it is intended that a system will be available to provide a more focused 
approach. This will see HaDSCO collect, report and share complaints data received 
directly by mental health service providers, as we do for disability and health complaints. 

Within the scope of responsibilities under Part 19 of the Mental Health Act 2014, we will be 
working closely with the Department of Health’s Patient Safety Surveillance Unit, service 
providers and other stakeholders to develop a data collection process that will provide the 
best possible quality data for analysis and feedback to improve mental health services.

Transparency of this process will be enhanced by the publication of results, analysis and 
outcomes on our Collaborate and Learn website, also see page 36.

HaDSCO Data
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Building staff capacity
To ensure we are providing the best possible service to the 

community it is important to have a well-equipped and 
knowledgeable workforce. This means developing the necessary 

skills and resources needed for staff to do their jobs well. Each year we 
undertake a range of training and development packages to promote a 
culture of learning and continual improvement.

Commissioners and managers meeting

The following initiatives were implemented to build staff capacity:

This Commissioners meeting was followed by the National Managers Meeting, in May 2015, which HaDSCO 
attended. This meeting provided an opportunity for operational staff to discuss and share information relating to 
complaints processes, trends and system issues on a national level. 

The Director of HaDSCO attended two National Health and Disability Commissioners’ Conferences during 2014-15. 
The meetings, among other issues, provided a valuable opportunity for state and commonwealth disability provider 
and consumer representatives to discuss the proposed National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) Quality and 
Safety framework. 

The Health Complaints Commissioners continued their discussions with the national Office of AHPRA to establish a 
Health Complaints Entities, National Boards and Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) Working 
Group. The purpose of the working group is to identify areas for change that will result in:

 Streamlined, simplified and more timely processes.

 Greater consistency between jurisdictions regarding process.

 More transparent decision making.

 Increased clarity around processes and the roles of all organisations.

 A more responsive system for practitioners and complainants.
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Mental health training

Development of staff resilience in managing mental 
health complaints is not only an occupational health 
and safety responsibility for HaDSCO, but an important 
measure for ensuring good outcomes for all parties. 
HaDSCO staff have provided feedback on training 
attended during the 2014-15 reporting period indicating 
that these opportunities have been beneficial to them 
in their roles. Staff participated in a range of training 
opportunities to improve their knowledge and skills in 
mental health.

Moving Forward

Further training will be offered in key 
areas such as:

•	 The Mental Health Act 2014 
online training modules are in 
development and expected to be 
available by mid-October

•	 The Recovery Model in mental 
health

•	 Trauma Impact in mental health

•	 Aboriginal Cultural Awareness in 
mental health

•	 The roles of other partner and 
support organisations in mental 
health

The group agreed that key areas of focus should include:

1. Nurturing interagency relationships

2. Sharing of information across agencies

3. Identifying differing practices as a learning opportunity

4. Promoting professional development, including ‘self-care’ for practitioners

5. Undertaking specific initiatives or projects, including the potential of developing professional conciliation 
standards

Following the initial forum, HaDSCO chaired 
a steering committee to explore and progress 
these objectives. An event was held in May 2015, 
which showcased different conciliation models, 
challenges and successes from agencies that 
provide conciliation services. The event included 
presentations from the Equal Opportunity 
Commission and WorkCover WA. 

In July 2014, following discussions with counterparts 
in other jurisdictions and stakeholders (e.g. LEADR), 
we convened a forum of peers involved in providing 
conciliation services in public sector agencies. The intent 
of the forum was to gauge the appetite for conciliators to 
establish a ‘Special Interest Group’, and to explore what 
its potential function/s may be.

Conciliation Steering 
Committee

Moving Forward

Future events are planned for 2015-
16, where the conciliation experiences 
of HaDSCO and the Small Business 
Development Corporation will be presented. 

3. Office performance
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Effective resource management 

All changes in 2014-15 complied with the legislative requirements of the Health and Disability Services (Complaints) 
Act 1995, Disability Services Act 1993, the Mental Health Act 2014, and the National Law. 

The changes were made to:

 Increase consumer and provider satisfaction due to complaints being resolved in a more timely, less 
administrative, and more effective way;

 Provide staff with clearer expectations of their respective roles, and therefore increase corporate accountability.

 Ensure that HaDSCO’s positive reputation as Health Complaints Entity is safeguarded.

The changes included:

 Introducing timeframes for the complaints process, where timeframes are not prescribed in relevant legislation.

 Introducing a new ‘front-end’ model to more effectively triage complaints.

 Improving communication with complainants and providers.

 Minimising double-handling of complaints which is currently evident in files.  

 Introducing automatic case reviews for all complaints after 30 and 50 days.

 Introducing timeframes to guide staff.

 Introducing new procedures to assist staff to manage complaints in a streamlined way.

 Revising the delegation instrument to increase staff confidence, autonomy and efficiency.

 Implementing revised letter templates.

Significant changes were implemented in 2014-15 to improve the timeliness, efficiency and effectiveness of our 
complaints management processes. These build on a number of improvements made to the complaints management 
process in 2013-14 which are now firmly embedded.

Streamlining complaint processes 

We have a responsibility to provide a service that is not only 
cost effective, but efficient in the way we deliver it. Continually 

evaluating the way we function, to look at new and improved 
ways of working, is something we encourage and promote. 

The following initiatives were implemented to improve the effective management of resources:
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Development and launch of the intranet 

Our new intranet site, HaDSCO Hub was launched in October 2014. It contains up-to-date information needed by 
staff to perform well in their roles. This includes access to complaints management procedures, human resource 
information, performance statistics and much more. 

The Hub was introduced to facilitate work-related communication and provide easy access to resources required 
to complete work. It also enables staff to share information about our Office performance and create a hub of 
information that is user-friendly and appealing. 

All staff in the Office provided feedback and ideas during the development of the new intranet site to ensure it was 
fit-for-purpose, user-friendly and representative of staff needs. In addition, as part of the launch of the site, we 
conducted a review of Office policies and procedures. This ensured that all information on the Hub was up-to-date 
prior to the launch.   

One of the main benefits of this central and comprehensive resource is that it allows more efficient use of work time 
as all key information is accessible from one location. It has also streamlined internal communication and reporting 
processes because important updates, reports and resources are loaded directly onto the site. 

Most importantly, the Hub has brought both service areas in the Office closer together through sharing of 
achievements and milestones. We will continue to make improvements to this excellent internal resource in 2015-16 
to ensure that it remains user-friendly and relevant.
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To ensure our services are reflective of community needs, we delivered a number of processes to provide 
stakeholders with the opportunity to have input including:

- Hosting a future direction planning forum that was attended by over 50 people, representing health, disability and 
mental health sectors and the community.

- A series of Executive level interviews hosted by the Director to meet with key leaders across the three sectors, 
including advocates and relevant groups who have links with the community.

- An online survey which provided the community with the opportunity to provide input anonymously.

- Review of the themes and issues identified from engagement programs delivered during the  
2014-15 financial year.

- The next stage in the processes will see us take on board the comments, feedback and suggestions put forward 
to create our new strategic plan.

Our current strategic plan 2012-15 was finalised during the 2014-15 financial year. A consultation program 
commenced with our stakeholders to seek feedback in developing a new strategic plan that will guide our work over 
the next three to five years. 

New strategic plan

Our scope - Functions of the DirectorThe functions of the Director as set out in the Health and Disability Services 

(Complaints) Act 1995 are as follows:
 to deal with complaints

 in collaboration with groups of providers or groups of users or both, to review and identify the causes of complaints and to suggest ways of removing and minimising those causes and bringing them to the notice of  the public

 to take steps to bring to the notice of users and providers details of complaints procedures

 to assist providers in developing 
and improving complaints procedures and training of staff  
in handling complaints

 with the approval of the Minister, 
to inquire into broader issues of health care arising from complaints received

 to publish work of the Office from 
time to time

 to provide advice generally on any 
matter relating to complaints

 to provide advice to users on the making of complaints to registration boards and other avenues available for dealing with 
complaints 

 any other function conferred on the Director by the Act or another 
written law. Under this legislation the Director may do all things that are necessary, or convenient 

to be done, in order to perform the Director’s functions

Empowering users and providers to 
collaboratively improve health and 
disability services.

 National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS): 

In 2015, the NDIS released a ‘Quality and Safeguards 

Framework’ for consultation.  One of the aims of the 

framework was to identify options to manage NDIS 

complaints, of which one option is for HaDSCO to 

assume this function. 

 Disability Complaints Consultation Project:  

In November 2014, HaDSCO commenced a project to 

engage with people with disability to understand the 

challenges faced in making complaints. The Office 

is now partnering with National Disability Services to 

consult with disability services providers and release a 

report with a series of recommendations to improve the 

management of disability complaints in the sector

 Disability Complaints Project: 

Under s48A of the Disability Services Act 1993, HaDSCO 

collects complaints data from certain public, private 

and not-for-profit disability service providers in Western 

Australia. A trial of this project commenced in 2014/15 

with 20 service providers, and the first data collection 

point will be in July 2015. 

Legislative Review
Disability

Mental health

 Legislative Review: 

s79 of the Health and 

Disability Services Act 

1995 requires a legislative 

review of the operations and 

effectiveness of the Act (as 

well as the Disability Services 

Act 1993, Part 6), as soon as 

practicable after five years 

of the Health and Disability 

Services Legislation 

Amendment Act 2010 being 

in operation (20 August 

2010).  This will see HaDSCO 

review current practice and 

assess whether key office 

functions are still befitting 

legislative requirements. 

 Mental Health Act 2014:  

Part 19 of the Mental Health Act 2014 provides 

HaDSCO with the legislative authority to 

manage public and private sector mental 

health complaints, as well as collect State-wide 

mental health complaint data from public and 

private service providers. Whilst HaDSCO has 

always managed mental health complaints, the 

implementation of the Act (due for November 

2015) will see HaDSCO’s role formalised and 

broadened.

 Mental Health Partnership Agreement: 

Stemming from the consumer perspectives 

forum held in 2013, which looked at consumer 

experiences of making a complaint in the 

mental health setting, HaDSCO has further 

developed this work-stream to promote the 

role of our Office in managing mental health 

complaints and our increased role in this area 

with the implementation of the Mental Health 

Act 2014.  This includes the establishment 

of a Mental Health Consultative Group and 

subsequent multi-agency Mental Health 

Partnership Agreement. Within this strategy 

there are systems and pathways to help 

improve access to complaints processes 

within the mental health sector and provide 

greater clarity around agency roles. A 

consultation process with stakeholders and 

the community has now closed and the 

Agreement will be launched in August for 

implementation in 2015/16. This will help to 

establish greater role clarity in complaint 

management, outline principles to guide 

effective complaints handling and increase 

inter-agency collaboration. 

 Declared Places (Mentally Impaired 

Accused) Bill 2013: 

The purpose of this Bill is to make provision 

for matters relating to ‘declared places’ 

that are being established by the Disability 

Services Commission for the detention and 

rehabilitation of people who are ‘mentally 

impaired accused’. HaDSCO will assume 

shared legislative responsibility for managing 

complaints arising from declared places.

What’s on 

the horizon for 

HADSCO?

https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Strategic Planning.aspx
https://www.collaborateandlearn.hadsco.wa.gov.au/cal/_layouts/15/start.aspx%23/SitePages/Strategic%20Planning.aspx
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Review of our legislation
s79 of the Health and Disability Services (Complaints) Act 1995 requires a legislative review of the operations and 
effectiveness of the Act (as well as the Disability Services Act 1993, Part 6), as soon as practicable after five years 
of the Health and Disability Services Legislation Amendment Act 2010 being in operation (20 August 2010). This 
will see HaDSCO review current practice and assess whether key Office functions are still adhering to legislative 
requirements.

New legislation - Mental Health Act 2014 
Part 19 of the Mental Health Act 2014 provides HaDSCO with the legislative authority to manage public and private 
sector mental health complaints, as well as collect State-wide mental health complaint data from public and private 
service providers. Whilst HaDSCO has always managed mental health complaints, the implementation of the Act 
(due for November 2015) will see HaDSCO’s role formalised and broadened.

Review of the Health Practitioner Regulation National Law (WA) Act 2010
The National Registration and Accreditation Scheme (NRAS) Review aimed to identify what is working well in the 
national scheme for regulating health professionals, as well as opportunities to improve the scheme. We work with 
Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) on a daily basis, and it is likely that recommendations 
being considered by Health Ministers in August 2015 will have a flow-on effect to HaDSCO.

New Code of Conduct for unregistered practitioners 
There is a wide variety of practitioners who provide health services. Some of these health practitioners are called 
‘registered practitioners’ because they are subject to regulation under Health Practitioner Regulation National Law 
(e.g. nurses). A full list of health professions regulated by AHPRA can be found in ‘Appendix’ page 121. 

Other health practitioners are not subject to regulation and they are known as ‘unregistered practitioners’. This 
includes massage therapists, dieticians, speech pathologists, counsellors and naturopaths amongst a further 32 
professions. 

However, in April 2015, the Council of Australian Government Health Council approved a National Code of Conduct 
for health care workers who are not regulated under the NRAS. In WA, this will see the Code regulated by HaDSCO, 
which will allow for effective action to be taken against a health care worker who fails to comply with standards of 
conduct or practice. 

For this to take effect, legislative changes are required 
in WA. This will require the establishment of regulatory 
tools and powers to set out offences under the Code and 
to deal with those providers who behave illegally or in an 
incompetent, exploitative or predatory manner. 

Once enabled, the Code will allow our Office to manage 
complaints that are presently outside of our jurisdiction. 

Changing legislation 

Moving Forward

The implementation of the code will 
continue to be a key focus for the Office 
in 2015-16 as we work to establish our 
legislative responsibility in this area. 
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Changing legislation (Continued)

National Disability Insurance Scheme
In 2015, the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) released a ‘Quality and Safeguards Framework’ for 
consultation. One of the aims of the framework was to identify options to manage NDIS complaints, of which one 
option is for HaDSCO to assume this function.

National project with AHPRA to improve management of complaints involving named 
health practitioners
A review of the NRAS in 2014 identified significant variation in legislation and the way in which each state and 
territory manages complaints and notifications across Australia. The National Boards, AHPRA and Health Complaints 
Commissioners are working together to strive for the consistent implementation of standards in the management of 
complaints across their jurisdictions. 

Health Complaints Commissioners, National Boards and AHPRA have committed to working together to develop a 
matrix to ensure that our decision-making processes are consistent, fair and transparent. HaDSCO is working with 
the National Boards, AHPRA and Health Complaints Commissioners in Victoria and Northern Territory to pilot a 
decision making matrix during our consultations. The trial will operate from July – October 2015.

Emerging technology
We continue to access a wealth of new technology and actively seek to utilise innovative opportunities to engage with 
our stakeholders. During 2014-15 we implemented SharePoint 2013 to host our first online engagement platform, 
Collaborate and Learn, which functions as an extranet site. 

Unlike a website, which hosts content for public access, extranets are used to share private content with specific 
external users through a web interface. This is achieved by incorporating password-protected pages in the site. Our 
extranet site has enabled us to tailor the level of access users are granted, relative to their role and involvement in 
projects. 

While the use of these technologies will continue, we will also seek new opportunities to improve accessibility, 
facilitate feedback from stakeholders and contribute to an active online community. 

Providing access to our services
We seek to ensure our services are accessible to all Western Australians, with an extra focus needed to reach out to 
Aboriginal and regional communities, given the existing geographical and cultural barriers. Consultation with regional 
areas has identified a growing need for HaDSCO to connect with rural and remote communities. We are currently 
working with a range of public, private and community sector agencies to achieve this.

Culturally and Linguistically Diverse engagement

Consultation undertaken in 2014 identified the need for HaDSCO to develop an educational tool for Culturally 
and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) communities. In 2015-16 the Office will release a video in several languages, 
to promote our services. This is the result of HaDSCO’s significant consultation with Christmas Island community 
members, some of whom feature in the video. 

4. Significant issues
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
HEALTH AND DISABILITY SERVICES COMPLAINTS OFFICE 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Health and Disability Services 
Complaints Office. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Director’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Director is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Director determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Office’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Health and Disability Services Complaints Office 
at 30 June 2015 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
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Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Health and Disability Services Complaints Office 
during the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Controls exercised by the Health and Disability Services Complaints Office are those policies 
and procedures established by the Director to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
Director’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Director is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Health and Disability Services Complaints Office based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls 
to ensure that the Office complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation 
of relevant controls. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Health and Disability Services Complaints Office are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Health and Disability Services Complaints 
Office for the year ended 30 June 2015.  
 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
Director’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Director is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Director determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards.  
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Health and Disability Services Complaints 
Office are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Office’s performance and fairly 
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Health and Disability Services Complaints Office for the year ended 30 June 2015 included on 
the Office’s website. The Office’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Office’s 
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Office’s website. The 
auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described 
above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked 
to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website 
version of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 
 

 
GLEN CLARKE 
DEPUTY AUDITOR GENERAL 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
20 August 2015 
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Statement of comprehensive income

Health and Disability Services Complaints Office

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30th June 2015

     Note 2015 2014
$ $

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6 1,885,380 1,938,036
Supplies and services 7 164,222 147,401
Amortisation expense 8 3,108 3,108
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 9 16,413 2,967
Other expenses 10 455,301 444,033

Total cost of services 2,524,424 2,535,545

INCOME
Commonwealth grants and contributions 11a 2,802 -
Other grants and contributions 11b 50,000 -
Other revenue 12 2,220 5,380

Total revenue 55,022 5,380

Total income other than income from State Government 55,022 5,380

NET COST OF SERVICES 2,469,402 2,530,165

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 13 2,564,000 2,498,000
Services received free of charge 14 80,876 85,292

Total income from State Government 2,644,876 2,583,292

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 175,474 53,127

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 175,474 53,127

See also note 33 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial statements (Continued)
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Statement of financial position

Health and Disability Services Complaints Office

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30th June 2015

Note 2015 2014
$ $

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22 1,061,527 774,452
Receivables 15 11,488 18,699
Other current assets 16 23,566 8,136

Total Current Assets 1,096,581 801,287

Non-Current Assets
Intangible assets 17 3,108 6,216

Total Non-Current Assets 3,108 6,216

Total Assets 1,099,689 807,503

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 19 186,938 104,185
Provisions 20 401,560 389,345

Total Current Liabilities 588,498 493,530

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 20 132,745 111,001

Total Non-Current Liabilities 132,745 111,001

Total Liabilities 721,243 604,531

NET ASSETS 378,446 202,972

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 21 378,446 202,972

TOTAL EQUITY 378,446 202,972

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial statements (Continued)
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Health and Disability Services Complaints Office

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30th June 2015

Note 2015 2014
$ $

BALANCE OF EQUITY AT START OF PERIOD 202,972 149,845

21
202,972 149,845
175,474 53,127
378,446 202,972

BALANCE OF EQUITY AT END OF PERIOD 378,446 202,972

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance at end of period
Surplus for the period

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Balance at start of period

Statement of changes in equity

Financial statements (Continued)
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Health and Disability Services Complaints Office

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30th June 2015

     Note 2015 2014
$ $

Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
 Service appropriations 13 2,564,000 2,498,000

Net cash provided by State Government 2,564,000 2,498,000

Utilised as follows:

                                             CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

 Employee benefits (1,822,416) (1,942,834)
 Supplies, services and other payments (509,531) (514,776)

Receipts
 Commonwealth grants and contributions 2,802 13,122
 Other grants and subsidies 50,000
 Recoveries and other receipts 2,220 5,380

Net cash used in operating activities 22 (2,276,925) (2,439,108)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 287,075 58,892

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 774,452 715,560

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 22 1,061,527 774,452

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of cash flows

Financial statements (Continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (Continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (Continued)

5. Disclosures and legal compliance



102

Estimates of expenditure 

The following estimates of expenditure for the year 2015-16 are prepared on an accrual accounting basis.
The estimates are required under section 40 of the Financial Management Act 2006 and by instruction from the 
Department of Treasury.

The following estimates of expenditure for the 2015-16 year do not form part of the preceding:

Budget appropriation: $2,637,000.00

5. Disclosures and legal compliance
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Our key performance indicators

Report on key performance indicators
Government goal: Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

Desired outcome: Improvement in the delivery of health and disability services.

An overview of the Health and Disability Services Complaints Office (HaDSCO) key performance indicators are 
demonstrated in the table below:

Key effectiveness 
indicator Services Key efficiency indicators

Proportion of 
recommendations 
resulting in 
implementation by 
providers

1. Complaints Management:

Assessment, negotiated settlement, 
conciliation and investigation of 
complaints.

KPI 1.1 
Percentage of complaints closed 
within legislation timeframes.

KPI 1.2 
Average cost per finalised complaint.

2. Education:

Education and training in the 
prevention and resolution of 
complaints.

KPI 2.1 
Average cost per awareness raising 
activity.

Key effectiveness indicator
The key effectiveness indicator reports on the proportion of recommendations resulting in implementation by 
providers. HaDSCO’s key focus as an Office is to improve health, mental health and disability services. As a result 
of HaDSCO’s complaints management processes, recommendations and agreed actions are made by HaDSCO to 
service providers to improve the delivery of health, mental health and disability services. 

The purpose of the key effectiveness indicator is to report on the extent to which service providers are making 
changes to improve processes, practices and policies as a result of recommendations and agreed actions made by 
HaDSCO that arise from complaints. 

The table below presents the number of service improvements that providers implemented, as a proportion of total 
service improvements agreed to or recommended between 2011-12 and 2014-15:

2014-15 2013-14 2012-13 2011-12

55/86 64/90 55/78 56/69

5. Disclosures and legal compliance
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Key efficiency indicators - service one - complaints management 
HaDSCO provides an impartial resolution service for complaints relating to health, mental health and disability 
services provided in WA. This service is free and available to all users and providers. HaDSCO delivers complaint 
management services through assessment, negotiated settlement, conciliation and investigation of complaints. 

The key efficiency indicator, relating to the provision of this service, focuses on the percentage of complaints closed 
within legislative timeframes and the average cost per finalised complaints.

Key efficiency indicator 1.1: Percentage of complaints closed within legislative timeframes

In the management of complaints, HaDSCO works to strict timeframes set out within the Health and Disability 
Services (Complaints) Act 1995 and other enabling legislation. The table below presents the actual results and 
targets for the legislative timeframes between 2011-12 and 2014-15:

Legislative 
requirement

Legislative 
timeframe 

(days)

2014-15 
Actual %

2014-15  
Target %

2013-14 
Actual %

2013-14 
Target %

2012-13 
Actual %

2012-13 
Target %

2011-12 
Actual %

2011-12 
Target %

Preliminary 
assessment 
by Director 
s.34 (1)

28 100 90 92 90 91 90 83 90

Preliminary 
assessment 
by Director 
s.34 (1) (c)

56 93 80 86 80 72 80 73 80

Notice to 
provider 
and others 
s.35

14 93 90 89 90 86 90 90 90

Significant changes were implemented in 2014-15 to improve the timeliness, efficiency and effectiveness of HaDSCO’s 
complaints management process. These build on a number of improvements that were made to the complaints 
management process in 2013-14 which are now firmly embedded into the complaints process.  

All changes in 2014-15 complied with the legislative requirements of the Health and Disability Services (Complaints) 
Act 1995 , Part 6 of the Disability Services Act 1993, the Mental Health Act 2014, and the National Law. The changes 
were made to:

•	 Increase consumer and provider satisfaction due to complaints being resolved in a more timely, less administrative, 
and more effective way.

•	 Provide staff with clearer expectations of their respective roles, and therefore increase corporate accountability.

•	 Ensure that HaDSCO’s positive reputation as a complaints entity is safeguarded.

Key efficiency indicator 1.2 : Average cost per finalised complaint
The purpose of the efficiency indicator is to demonstrate the average cost per finalised complaint. It provides 
information on how much each complaint costs when managed through the complaints processes. HaDSCO 
forecasted that 2,519 complaints would be managed during the 2014-15 financial year; however the Office managed 
a reduced number of complaints - 2,434 - which resulted in a difference between the target and the actual. 

Our key performance indicators (Continued)
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The table below demonstrates the average cost per complaint, actual and targets, 
from 2011-12 to 2014-15:

2014-15 
Actual $

2014-15 
Target $

2013-14 
Actual $

2013-14 
Target $

2012-13 
Actual $

2012-13 
Target $

2011-12 
Actual $

2011-12 
Target $

694 670 731 657 685 670 666 650

Key efficiency indicators - service two - education 
This key service supports the delivery of the broader role of the Office which includes: 

•	 Collaborating with groups to review and identify the causes of complaints and suggest ways to minimise  
those causes.

•	 Assisting providers to improve complaints procedures and to train their staff to effectively manage complaints.

•	 Sharing information and reporting on the work of the Office to specific stakeholders and the public in general.

The key efficiency indicator, relating to the provision of this service, focuses on the average cost per awareness 
raising activity. 

Over the past two years, HaDSCO has been allocating an increased proportion of resources to deliver service two. In 
2012-13, the Office established a program to review the allocation of resources toward service two. 

The outcome of this review demonstrated that a number of the positions from across the Office contribute 
significantly to the delivery of this service. This movement in the allocation of resources to service two reflects 
HaDSCO’s evolution and progression into delivering education and training initiatives to a broad range of 
stakeholders, to share improvements and assist in the effective resolution of complaints. 

Group one costs: Development, production and distribution of information.

The group one cost relates to the resources that contribute to the development, production and distribution of 
information. During the 2014-15 financial year HaDSCO delivered a number of projects and initiatives based on ten 
key stakeholder engagement strategies. Examples of work that contributed to this cost include:

•	 Finalised the tailored Aboriginal video resource ‘Speak up - Do something about it’ to increase awareness of 
HaDSCO’s complaints process.

•	 Developed an Effective Complaint Handling Training Manual to promote good complaints handling practice.

•	 Released a series of reports including: An Overview of Health Complaints in Western Australia and other tailored 
reports identifying key health complaint data trends across the sector.

•	 Launched additional resources on HaDSCO’s online engagement site - Collaborate and Learn - including a case 
study library and resources log, to provide useful tools to effectively manage complaints and promote system 
improvements.

The table below demonstrates group one actual costs: Development, production and distribution of information from 
2011-12 to 2014-15:

2014-15 
Actual $

2013-14 
Actual $

2012-13 
Actual $

2011-12 
Actual $

Group one costs: Development, 
production and distribution of 

information
327,709 282,183 250,584 166,093

Our key performance indicators (Continued)
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Group two costs: Presentations, awareness raising, consultations and networking.

The group two cost relates to the resources that contribute to presentations, awareness raising, consultations and 
networking. During the 2014-15 financial year, examples of work that contributed to this cost include extensive 
engagement programs for a number of key projects, including:

•	 The Disability Focus Group Series;

•	 Greater collaboration with Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency;

•	 Increasing HaDSCO’s regional presence through tailored outreach programs;

•	 Development of the multi-agency Mental Health Complaints Partnership Agreement, with community and mental 
health sector involvement.

The table below demonstrates group two actual costs: Presentations, awareness raising, consultations and 
networking from 2011-12 to 2014-15:

2014-15 
Actual $

2013-14 
Actual $

2012-13 
Actual $

2011-12 
Actual $

Group two costs: Presentations, 
awareness raising, consultations and 

networking
452,323 430,679 341,400 245,843

Key efficiency indicator 2.1: Average cost per awareness raising activity
The purpose of this efficiency indicator is to demonstrate the average cost per awareness raising activities for the 
Office. 

HaDSCO forecasted that 307 engagement activities would be delivered during the 2014-15 financial year, an 
increase of 10 percent on 2013-14 financial year activity. However, the Office delivered a record number of 
engagement activities during this financial year - a total of 523. The increase relates to additional engagement with 
health, disability and mental health stakeholders, which resulted in a reduction to the average cost per awareness 
raising activity.

HaDSCO delivered 523 outreach activities including:

•	 176 awareness raising activities to promote HaDSCO services, increase knowledge of effective complaints 
management practices and raise awareness of patterns or trends resulting from analysis of complaints data.

•	 93 networking opportunities to build relationships with providers, central government agencies and consumer 
groups; and

•	 254 consultations with key groups to share and exchange views, seek advice and participate in meaningful 
discussion.

The table below presents the average cost per awareness raising activity between 2011-12 and 2014-15:

2014-15 
Actual $

2014-15 
Target $

2013-14 
Actual $

2013-14 
Target $

2012-13 
Actual $

2012-13 
Target $

2011-12 
Actual $

2011-12 
Target $

Average cost 
per awareness 
raising activity

865 1533 1,544 1,502 1,538 1,450 1,336 1,370

Our key performance indicators (Continued)
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Ministerial directives

Other financial disclosures 

Pricing policies of services provided
HaDSCO receives revenue under a Service Delivery Arrangement with the Australian Government. Under this 
arrangement HaDSCO handles enquiries and complaints from the Indian Ocean Territories (IOT) about the delivery 
of health, disability and mental health services. 

Each year HaDSCO recoups costs from the Australian Government for any complaints received from the IOT. Cost 
recovery is based on the average cost per complaint published in the annual report. Administrative costs and the 
costs of any travel to the IOT by HaDSCO staff and any promotional materials are also recouped in full. 

Capital works
No capital works were undertaken during 2014-15.

Employment and industrial relations 
Employment of staff 

As at 30 June 2015 there were 16 staff (15 FTEs) undertaking the work of the Office. 

There were 16 people directly employed by HaDSCO, including 13 full-time employees and 3 part-time employees. 
This includes contract staff providing short term expertise, people on unpaid leave, and people on secondment. 

All employees are public sector employees operating in executive, complaints resolution, communications, research 
and administrative roles. The following table provides a breakdown of the categories of employment for staff as at 30 
June over the past two years:

Employee Capacity Number of staff 2014-15 Number of staff 2013-14
Full-time permanent 7 9

Full-time contract 6 6

Part-time permanent 2 3

Part-time contract 1 1

Accounting for performance 

HaDSCO’s performance development system includes identifying expectations and recognition of performance. 
Managers and staff annually formalise a performance development plan that provides a framework to: 

• Identify and agree on the expectations of staff and the work that will be carried out aligned to the  
Strategic and Operational plans 

• Identify and acknowledge the contribution employees make in the achievement of HaDSCO’s operational and 
strategic goals; and 

• Develop and retain skilled employees and assist employees to achieve their professional  
and personal career goals. 

Shares in statutory authorities 
HaDSCO does not have shares in statutory authorities.

HaDSCO reports to the Hon. Dr Kim Hames, Deputy Premier; Minister for Health; Tourism.
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Governance disclosures 

Shares in subsidiary bodies 
HaDSCO does not have any subsidiary bodies. 

Interests in contracts by senior officers 
HaDSCO’s Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest and Outside Interest Policy define conflict of interest and 
appropriate action to take where a conflict arises between the employee’s public duty and their private interests, 
including during tender and purchasing processes. 

Employees are aware through the Code of Conduct that they have an obligation to disclose interests that could 
reasonably create a perception of bias, or an actual conflict of interest. There have been no declarations of an 
interest in any existing or proposed contracts by senior officers. 

Benefits to senior officers through contracts 
No senior officers have received any benefits through contracts. 

Other legal requirements 

Insurance paid to indemnify directors 
HaDSCO does not have any directors as defined in Part 3 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996.

Advertising, market research, polling and direct mail 
Expenditure on advertising, market research, polling and direct mail

In accordance with s175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 we are required to report on expenditure incurred during the 
financial year in relation to advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising. During this 
reporting period we incurred the following expenses:

Item Cost

Advertising agencies $13989.80 

Market research organisations Nil

Polling organisations Nil

Direct mail organisations $137.74

Media advertising organisations Nil
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Other legal requirements (Continued) 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes 

The Disability Services Act 1993 requires all state and local government authorities to develop and implement a 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP). This helps to ensure people with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people in the community to access services, facilities and information. 

We remain committed to ensuring that people with disability, their carers and families have access to our services, 
information and facilities by implementing strategies and initiatives identified in the DAIP.

The seven desired outcomes that we want to achieve, as outlined in our DAIP, are:

1.  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access the services and 
events that we organise.

2.  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings and 
facilities that we use.

3.  People with disability receive information from us in a format that will enable them to access the 
information as readily as other people are able to access it.

4.  People with disability receive the same level and quality of service from our staff as other people 
in the community.

5.  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints to us.

6.  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation we host.

7.  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to seek employment, 
professional development and work experience with us.

To achieve these outcomes, we progressed the following strategies during 2014-15:

- Incorporated the objectives of the DAIP into our 2014-15 operational plan and other procedures and policies.

- Continued with our Consumer and Carer Reference Group (CCRG), which includes participants who represent 
health, disability and mental health service users.

- Delivered 13 focus groups to people with disability, their carers and family to seek feedback on how we can 
make our services more accessible.

- Consulted with a vision impaired community member to understand how to access information on our website 
with the JAWS program, using the feedback to improve our website accessibility.

- Improved employee awareness of disability and access issues by continuing to implement the HaDSCO 
Workforce and Diversity Plan 2013-16, publishing the DAIP on our intranet site, and by promoting the DAIP 
during the induction process.
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Other legal requirements (Continued) 
Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
In the administration of the Office, HaDSCO has complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource 
Management, the Code of Ethics and HaDSCO’s Code of Conduct. Procedures and policies are in place, designed to 
ensure compliance by all HaDSCO staff. 

The following table identifies action taken to monitor and ensure compliance with public sector standards and ethical 
codes.

Significant action to monitor and ensure compliance with Western Australian Public Sector Standards
HaDSCO staff are aware of, and are required to comply with, the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource 
Management. This is supported by policies and procedures relating to the Standards, regular professional 
development for staff about the Standards and related policies, and the inclusion of the policies in the induction 
process. 

Monitoring provisions include: 

- A monitoring process to ensure there are current performance management processes in place for all 
employees.

- For recruitment, selection and appointment, an individual review of each process is undertaken prior to the final 
decision to ensure compliance with the Employment Standard.

- The continuous development of policies and procedures in accordance with the Standards to ensure 
compliance and relevancy. 

Compliance issues: Internal reviews have shown compliance with the Standards is achieved before any final 
decision is made. There have been no breaches found of the public sector standards. 

Significant action to monitor and ensure compliance with the Code of Ethics and the Office’s Code of Conduct 

The Code of Ethics and HaDSCO’s Code of Conduct are available on the HaDSCO Hub (intranet) and are part of the 
Induction for new staff. 

Guidelines for Ethical and Accountable Decision Making have been developed as a ready reference for staff when 
dealing with a difficult situation related to the Ethical Codes. The Guidelines are based on the Accountable and 
Ethical Decision Making in the WA Public Sector training materials provided by the Public Sector Commissioner. 

HaDSCO’s Code of Conduct supports the Code of Ethics and links our corporate values with expected standards of 
personal conduct. All staff and contractors who carry out work for, or on behalf of, the Office are required to comply 
with the spirit of the Code of Conduct. 

The following processes have been established to ensure compliance:

- On appointment, all staff sign the Code of Conduct to confirm their understanding of its application in the 
workplace and swear an oath or make an affirmation about maintaining appropriate confidentiality. 

- Ethics and conduct related policies have been developed, including policies and procedures for declaring and 
managing conflicts of interest and gifts. The ethical codes and related policies are included in the induction 
process and there is regular professional development for managers and staff about the ethical codes and 
related policies.

- A policy and internal procedures relating to Public Interest Disclosures strongly support disclosures being made 
by staff. 

- Director sign off, for management of conflicts of interest and gifts and benefits. 

- High level consideration and sign off of requests for review of the Office’s handling of a complaint and any 
complaints about the conduct of staff; and 

- Seeking opportunities to improve current practices through internal auditing and reviewing policies and 
procedures to ensure compliance and relevancy.

Compliance issues: There has been no evidence of non-compliance with the ethical codes.
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Other legal requirements (Continued) 
Good governance framework
We remain committed to good governance and continue to adhere to the Public Sector Commission’s Good 
Governance Guide, which provides nine key governance principles. The mechanisms we have in place to address 
these nine principles are outlined below.

 Government and public sector relationship
 As an independent to body, HaDSCO reports to the Hon. Dr Kim Hames, Deputy Premier; Minister for 

Health; Tourism.

 Management and oversight
 We are in the last year of our three year strategic plan. The plan was developed in consultation with staff 

and external stakeholders, in 2012-13. This plan, which is publicly available on our website, clearly defines 
our vision and the five key strategic goals that support this vision. We also create an operational plan each 
year which outlines the projects and other activities that will be undertaken during the financial year to 
implement each of the five strategic goals. 

 Organisational structure
 HaDSCO is a small Office, effectively delivering services through two teams, Complaints and System 

improvement which focuses on the management and resolution of complaints and Strategic Services and 
Community Engagement which focuses on the delivery of corporate services and education and outreach 
programs. These two teams are led by the Executive who are responsible for joint decision making and 
leadership of the Office. 

 Operations 
 HaDSCO’s daily operations were guided by the Operational Plan 2014-15. This plan set out the work that 

was to be completed by HaDSCO over a 12 month period. The Operational Plan was also supported by a 
Stakeholder Engagement Strategy 2014-15. 

 Ethics and integrity 
HaDSCO is governed by Six key values: 

Integrity

Accessibility

Improvement

Empowerment

Confidentiality

Responsiveness 
In line with these values, HaDSCO observes an independent and impartial approach to the conduct of 
complaints management processes. Ethics and integrity are contained within the Code of Conduct and 
Guidelines for Ethical and Accountable Decision Making. The following processes are in place to ensure 
staff compliance with these codes:

- sign an Oath/Affirmation to confirm their understanding of HaDSCO’s role and the requirements of 
confidentiality under the Health and Disability Services (Complaints) Act 1975.

- sign to confirm their understanding of the application of the Code; and

- made aware of the Conflict of Interest and Outside Interest Policy and registers and how they should 
be declared. When declarations are made, the Director assesses the appropriate action to be taken. 

1

2

3

4

5
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Other legal requirements (Continued) 

 People 
 The HaDSCO Workforce and Diversity Plan 2013-16 provides a strong workforce planning framework to 

support the achievement of the goals in the strategy. HaDSCO aims to attract, develop and retain a skilled 
and valued workforce with a culture that supports high quality, responsive and efficient service; and to 
treat people professionally, courteously and with appropriate sensitivity.

 Finance 
 Financial integrity and accountability is secured through reporting to the Executive Team in conjunction 

with an external Chief Financial Officer. Health Corporate Network, through a Service delivery 
Arrangement with this Office, provides financial and payroll support which is governed by the Health 
Accounting Manual, Health Corporate Network. 

 HaDSCO is audited by the Office of the Auditor General each year to ensure compliance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and Treasurer’s Instructions. Financial and human resource audits are also 
internally undertaken to ensure compliance, including an internal audit of HaDSCO’s leave liability.

 Communication 
 To ensure services are accessible, open and responsive, HaDSCO communicates with its key 

stakeholders using a range of communication channels, adapted to suit the audience. Further information 
is included in the Empowerment and Education section of the report. HaDSCO also provides guidance for 
dealing with people with disabilities and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. 

 Policies covering record keeping, records management and communications ensure that the appropriate 
safeguards are in place for the confidentiality and integrity of information, preventing unauthorised 
disclosure. Quarterly staff meetings, separate team meetings and the HaDSCO Hub (intranet) provide a 
forum for sharing information internally. 

 Risk management 
 HaDSCO commenced a review on the Risk Management Policy and Plan in 2014-15. These detail 

controls that have been identified for significant risks and any action required is assigned to a relevant 
member of the management.

6

7

8
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Other legal requirements (Continued) 
Record Keeping Plan 
In the 2013-14 Annual Report, we mistakenly reported that the HaDSCO Record Keeping Plan (RKP) was approved 
by the State Records Office of Western Australia (SRO).  

During 2014-15 HaDSCO worked with SRO to review the record keeping processes and established the RKP. The 
plan sets out a number of key documents that require review, update and implementation to ensure compliance 
with the Records Management Framework and promote best practice record keeping. It outlines the record keeping 
requirements under the State Records Act 2000 and assists the Office to improve the quality and consistency of 
record keeping. The Plan has now been submitted for approval to the SRO.  

HaDSCO’s record keeping framework consists of six key principles. Below is an overview of each principle and what 
we have actioned during 2014-15: 

1. Proper and Adequate Records

This is to ensure that records are created and kept in order to properly and adequately record organisational 
performance functions. 

Key initiatives actioned during 2014-15:

Our records are kept in a manner that is consistent with any written law to which HaDSCO is subject when 
performing its functions. During the year we completed planning to ensure that mental health complaint 
information is captured and stored electronically. This work is being undertaken in preparation for the 
implementation of the Mental Health Act 2014, planned for November 2015. 

We continued to use TRIM as our Electronic Document Records Management System (EDRMS). All 
incoming correspondence and significant internal documents are saved electronically into the EDRMS.  
HaDSCO staff are required to save their final electronic documents into the EDRMS as well as saving 
electronic mail and facsimiles directly into the system.  

The database used to store complaint information is CRED. 

2. Policies and Procedures

This is to ensure that record keeping programs are supported by policy and procedures; these policy and 
procedures are formally documented as a reference.

Key initiatives actioned during 2014-15:

We commenced a review of our policies and procedures late in the financial year. The Office will be working 
closely with SRO to seek advice on the updated policies and procedures, aiming for implementation in 2015. 

3. Language Control

This is to ensure that appropriate controls are in place to identify and name government records. 

Key initiatives actioned during 2014-15:

We commenced a review of our Thesaurus undertaking consultation with staff across the Office. 

The amended Thesaurus will be developed to ensure that records are defined in an accurate and accessible 
way. The thesaurus will incorporate corporate services records, communications and research and be 
developed with our own unique functional terms for our two key service areas: complaints management and 
education and training in the prevention of complaints.  

4. Preservation

This is to ensure that all HaDSCO records are appropriately protected and preserved as long as required for 
legal, legislative, financial, administrative and historical purposes. 

Key initiatives actioned during 2014-15:

HaDSCO has developed strategies for the recovery of the Records Management System (RMS) in the event 
of a disaster. The Office will be working with SRO for advice on the strategies and will aim for implementation 
in 2015-16.     
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5. Retention and Disposal

This is to ensure that records are retained and disposed of in accordance with an approved disposal 
authority.  

In 2015-16, HaDSCO will contribute to the SRO, Sector Disposal Authority for records relating to the 
provision of mental health services by government agencies.

6. Compliance

HaDSCO will be implementing various activities to ensure that all staff are aware of their record keeping 
responsibilities and compliance with the RKP.

Key initiatives actioned during 2014-15:

The efficiency and effectiveness of the record keeping training program is reviewed regularly through 
monitoring staff use of the EDRMS to ensure that staff are following the record keeping requirements.

All records related plans, policies, guidelines and manuals are available on the HaDSCO Hub (intranet) to 
assist staff to comply with their record keeping requirements and include user friendly guides for training 
staff. 

This is part of the induction process for new staff and is also available as a resource for existing staff 
members. The induction process also includes individual training sessions with new staff members 
conducted by their manager. Follow up training and help desk assistance are provided as required.

Government policy requirements

Substantive equality 
We aim to make our services accessible to all people living in WA; however we recognise that making a complaint 
can be particularly difficult for some people, due to cultural, linguistic and geographical challenges.  

As a result we:

 Allow people to make enquiries to our Office through different mediums, such as over the phone, in writing 
(letter or email) or in person by appointment.

 Ongoing commitment to the Consumer and Carer Reference Group (CCRG) which includes key Culturally 
and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) advocates as a partner – Ethnic and Disability Advocacy Centre to ensure 
HaDSCO is responsive to the needs of the CALD community. 

 Partnered with Yorgum Aboriginal Corporation to develop a resource – Speak up: do something about it.

 Promote our TTY and country toll free number in our publications and on our website.

 Provide access to our publications in different formats and languages.

 Recognise that parts of our legislation can be difficult to comply with, for example the requirement that people 
must attempt to resolve their complaint with the provider before contacting us. We therefore exercise discretion 
about when this requirement should be enforced.  

It is important that any new policy or initiative is accessible and relevant to all of our stakeholders, including 
disadvantaged groups. To assist us to achieve this goal we established a CCRG. This group provides HaDSCO with 
a rich source of information and feedback to ensure we remain inclusive and relevant to our stakeholders.

Other legal requirements (Continued) 
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Occupational Safety and Health and injury management 
We take our commitment to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy work environment for all employees, 
contractors and visitors seriously. We engage in best practice Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) management 
practices required under the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1985 including reporting, training, discussion and 
accountability in order to minimise workplace injuries.

Additionally, our proactive approach to injury management has seen us commence a review of our workers’ 
compensation, injury management and return to work policies in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and 
Injury Management Act 1981. As an ongoing measure we encourage employees to identify potential risks and report 
these to the HaDSCO OSH representative.

During 2014-15 we:

• Provided ergonomic assessments for employees.

• Engaged the services of an Employee Assistance Program.

• Formed an Occupational Safety and Health Committee.

• Updated and developed a suite of new policies.

• Developed a dedicated space on the HaDSCO Hub (intranet) to make the OSH policies available.

• Offered staff the opportunity to receive a free annual influenza vaccination.

The table below indicates our annual performance in relation to OSH and injury management.       

Indicator Results for  
2014-15

Number of fatalities Zero (0)

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) incidence rate 2/21

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0)

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 13 weeks 100%

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 26 weeks 100%

Percentage of managers and supervisors trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury management responsibilities 3/4 (75%)
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Appendices

Health providers who are prescribed under s75 of the Health and Disability Services 
Complaints Act 1995 

Prescribed entity
Abbotsford Private Hospital

Albany Community Hospice

Attadale Private Hospital

Bethesda Hospital 

Busselton Hospice Care Incorporated

Department of Corrective Services

Department of Health, Child and Adolescent Health Service

Department of Health, Dental Health Services

Department of Health, North Metropolitan Health Service

Department of Health, South Metropolitan Health Service

Department of Health, WA Country Health Service

Glengarry Private Hospital

Hollywood Private Hospital

Joondalup Health Campus

Mercy Hospital 1 

Mount Hospital

Mount Lawley Private Hospital 2

Ngala Family Services

Peel Health Campus 3

Perth Clinic

South Perth Hospital

Silver Chain Nursing Association Incorporated

St John of God Hospital, Bunbury

St John of God Hospital, Geraldton

St John of God Hospital, Murdoch

St John of God Hospital, Subiaco

Subiaco Private Hospital Pty Limited

Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (Western Operations)

St John Ambulance Australia (Western Australia) Inc

The Marian Centre

Waikiki Private Hospital

1 On 5 May 2014 ownership of Mercy Hospital was transferred to St John of God Health Care. Mercy Hospital is now 
known as St John of God Mt Lawley Hospital.

2 Mount Lawley Private Hospital is now known as St John of God Mt Lawley Hospital.
3 Peel Health Campus has been acquired by Ramsay Health Care.
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Appendices (Continued)

Disability providers who are prescribed under S48A of the 
Disability Services Act 1993

Disability service provider Legal Name

Ability Centre The Cerebral Palsy Association of Western 
Australia Ltd

Activ Activ Foundation Incorporated

Adventist Residential Care Seventh-day Adventist Aged Care (Western 
Australia)

Autism Association of Western Australia Autism Association of Western Australia Inc

Baptistcare Baptistcare Incorporated

Community Living Association Community Living Association Inc.

Disability Services Commission Disability Services Commission

Empowering People in Communities (EPIC) Empowering People in Communities (EPIC) Inc.

Enable Southwest Enable Southwest Inc.

Identitywa Identitywa

Lady Lawley Cottage Australian Red Cross Society (t/as Lady Lawley 
Cottage)

Lifestyle Solutions Lifestyle Solutions (Aust) Ltd (Western 
Operations)

Mosaic Community Care Mosaic Community Care Inc.

My Place (WA) My Place Foundation Inc. 

Nulsen Nulsen Haven Association (Inc.)

Perth Home Care Services Perth Home Care Services Inc.

Rocky Bay Rocky Bay Incorporated

Senses Australia Senses Australia

Therapy Focus Therapy Focus Incorporated

UnitingCare West UnitingCare West
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Appendices (Continued)

Acronyms

AHPRA Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency

CCRG Consumer and Carer Reference Group

COMHWA Consumers of Mental Health Western Australia

CPSU Community and Public Sector Union

DAIP Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DoH Department of Health

DSC Disability Services Commission 

HaDSCO Health and Disability Services Complaints Office

HCN Health Corporate Network

HPCC Health Provider Consultative Group

HIN Health Information Network

IOT Indian Ocean Territories

KPI Key Performance Indicator

MHC Mental Health Commission 

OSH Occupational Safety and Health

PwDWA People with Disability Western Australia

RAAP Regional Access and Awareness Program

SES Stakeholder Engagement Strategy

SIWG Systemic Issues Working Group

TRIM Total Records Information Management

WA Western Australia

WAAMH Western Australian Association for Mental Health
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Appendices (Continued)

AHPRA register of national boards and professionals 

National Board Profession Division

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health 
Practice Board of Australia 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Health Practitioner 

Chinese Medicine Board of Australia Chinese Medicine Practitioner

Acupuncturist 
Chinese herbal medicine 
practitioner 
Chinese herbal dispenser

Chiropractic Board of Australia Chiropractor

Dental Board of Australia Dental Practitioner 

Dentist 
Dental therapist 
Dental hygienist 
Dental prosthetist 
Oral health therapist

Medical Board of Australia Medical Practitioner

Medical Radiation Practice Board of Australia Medical Radiation Practitioner

Diagnostic radiographer 
Nuclear medicine 
technologists 
Radiation therapist 

Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia Nurses and Midwives Registered nurse (Division 1) 
Enrolled nurse (Division 2)

Occupational Therapy Board of Australia Occupational therapist

Optometry Board of Australia Optometrist

Osteopathy Board of Australia Osteopath

Pharmacy Board of Australia Pharmacist

Physiotherapy Board of Australia Physiotherapist 

Podiatry Board of Australia Podiatrist

Psychology Board of Australia Psychologist
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